

**ROCKINGHAM COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT
HARRISONBURG, VA**

MINUTE

BOOK

17

1836

1
Urgent to suit

At Court held for the County of Rockingham on
the 7th Monday being the 18th day of January 1836.

Present.

Richard P. Fletcher, Samuel Lewis, Preston Moore
for col. Harriburg. 9 by Justice

A list of Conveyances and other writings recorded to Record in the
Clerks office of the County Court of Rockingham from the 1st to the
31st day of ^{December} January 1835. enclosed, was returned into Court by the
Clerk thereof, and being examined, it is ordered to be entered on the
Minutes, and also left to be filed up at the Court house of said
County and is as follows.

Order for Perpetual property from Samuel Cannon to M. H. Gambell in trust for E. H. Lewis

Order for land John Bushholder to Robert Haggans

Order for P. Property D. Wells to R. P. Fletcher in trust for George Cannon

Order Arch. Hopkins Comp. to James Davis for land

Order for land James D. Smith & Jeremiah Fisher

Order for land land Coole to A. Bare & Trustee

Order for land P. Samuel Fry to S. Christian in trust for David Fry

Order for land Barnett Gells to John Metcalf

Order ^{for land} John Thomas to Adair & H. Boyer

Order ^{for land} Solomon M. Martin to James A. Delaveth

Order for land same to Peter Smith

Order for P. property Peter Pearey to P. Pearey in trust for B. Pearey

On the Motion of David Moyes, who reads oaths & checks
with security value into and acknowledged bond in the
penalty of \$1200. as the Law directs, Certificate is granted him
for obtaining letters of administration on the estate of Abraham
Moyes deceased in due form, and it is ordered that Benjamin
Bourne, David Miller, Martin Bushholder & David Coalster
for or any 2 of them being first sworn as appears the estate
of D. Moyes and make report to the Court

An appraisment bill and sale bill of the estate of the
C Weav Bournan decd were returned exarans forans to be
Recorded

An appraisment bill & sale bill of the estate of Mathew
C Boar decd were returned exarans forans to be Recorded

An appraisment bill of the estate of Sally Magill decd
C was returned exarans forans to be Recorded

Orans that Jacob Heggam be appointed guardian for
+ Peter Batcher orphan of Thomas Batcher decd under 14 years of
age who enter into bond with security in the penalty of
\$100 as the law directs

Barbara A. Frey orphan of Jacob Freys decd over 14 years
+ of age came into court and made chow of John Lohrman
as her guardian, who enter into bond with security in the
penalty of \$200 as the law directs

An inventory & appraisment bill of the estate of
C Jacob Mout decd was returned forans to be Recorded

Settlements of the estate accounts of William Robinson
C ~~John~~ Byaly, Peter Buntcholan, Jacob Shulry, John Tulwiler
George Bond & Jacob Mout, were returned exarans &
allowed by the Court and severally orans to be Recorded

On the Motion of Richard Carris, who made oath thereto
C and with security enter into and acknowledge bond in the
penalty of \$200 ~~with~~ a certificate is granted him for
obtaining letters of administration of the estate of Catharine
Carris decd ^{his wife} in due form

~~Orans that~~ Rebecca Boling orphan of Peter Boling decd ^{over} 14
+ years of age, who enter into bond with security in the
penalty of \$200 as the law directs

An appraisment bill and sale bill of the estate of Peter C. Bolen and wife were returned and stands to be recorded

A copy of a writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Alexander Sterring deceased, was presented in Court, and it appearing to the satisfaction of the Court that the said will was proved and admitted to be read in the Court of Common Pleas for the county of Clermont State of Ohio, the said copy is ordered to be recorded - and on the Motion of George W. Childress who executed names in said will, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$3000. and made oath that he is the Law directs, a Certificate is granted here for obtaining a probate thereof in due form -

An appraisment bill of the estate of Agnes Warringer was returned and stands to be recorded

On the Motion of Sarah W. Lewis administratrix of Richard Austin deceased, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a Commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said R. Austin and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Simon H. Burkholder, it is ordered that Joseph Teravon Sheriff of this county take into his hands the estate of William Farn and administer the same according to Law

A bill of the estate of Sarah Hayes was returned and stands to be recorded

Registers of William Isaac Farn & Moses free Negroes were returned into Court, and being compared with the said Negroes, and found duly made. Copies thereof are ordered to be furnished each of them in the manner directed by Law.

Comptroler and Sels on a duly sworn Note proved and sworn to

A writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of George Helms deceased was presented in Court and proved by the oath of George M. Kemper & Joseph M. Cary two Witnesses

Shetels, and Orans to be Recor'd and on the Motion of Robert Gattaw Jr. one of the executors named in the said Will who made oath thereto and entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$20,000. a certificate is granted him for obtaining probate in due form, ~~and other things~~

On the Petition of Abner Stover to alter a part of the Public Road leading from Harrisburg to Turley Town, so of the alterations to commence at that point where the road to Christman store turns off and from thence through the Petitioner's land to the line between the said Stover's land and Christian Evered's and with the adjoining line to where it enters the said old road, and it is ordered that Jacob Shewalter, John Christman, George H. Christman & Joseph Christman or any 3 of them being first sworn to show the said alterations and make report thereof to the Court, of the reasons and circumstances attending the same

Orans that the Orphan of the poor child Regall Jones orphan of Williams form aged 12 years old in July next to Joseph Binscholan as the Law directs, who is given her for freedom and 20 Dollars

Orans that the Orphan of the poor child Williams Bailey poor child a free boy of colour, 9 years old to Cyrus Roads to learn the art & mystery of a farmer, as the Law directs who is to receive for freedom sum \$20.

Orans that George Demmel be appointed Surveyor of Precinct No. 3. of the Keezel town road in the room of Thomas Stanton.

Abner Nicholas orphan of Jacob Nicholas and son 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of Samuel Suggs as his Guardian who entered into bond with security, as the Law directs

Orans that Charles Nicholas be appointed Guardian for Henry Nicholas and Quincy Nicholas orphans of Jacob

Executors who are under 14 years of age, he having entered into bond in the security as the Law directs

An appraisment bill of the estate of Joseph Difeo deceased, was returned to be received

to worth & support by earnest Leasport for costs

On the Petition of Edward St. Smith, to alter a part of the public road leading from St. Armand's to the Old Curran, which alteration is to be on the same of the said Smith, at the pond so as to pass on the North side of said pond instead of the South side, when it now runs, it is ordered that John Sheets, David Leedy, George Lord and Jacob Miller or any 3 of them being first sworn do view the said alteration and make report of the same and measurement attending the same to the Court

Smith & Wells. as wth agents

On the Motion of John & George Bourne executors of John Bourne deceased, it is ordered that William G. Thompson be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said John Bourne deceased and make report to the Court

It is ordered that Henry J. Gambell be appointed a commissioner to sell at Public Sale, ^{for costs} the Drum and large stone pipe that ~~was~~ was formerly in the Old Court house, and make report thereof to the Court

On the Motion of John D. Moyne executor of Barbara Gould deceased, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Barbara Gould deceased and make report thereof to the Court

Allowed & Marty on an appeal Docketed and Contined

~~Ordered that James St. John, William Barry, David Newnam, Jeremiah Bayne, Joseph Daily, Joseph Marsden, & William Greenfield be appointed as assessors to be hired out by the Sheriff in the Matter hereby directed by Law for a~~

Ordered that the sheriff hire out according to law
 James Haskin, Walter Burray, James Stearns, Jeremiah
 + Boyce, Jacob Early Joseph Harrison & Milton Green, free
 Negroes, for such time as will pay their respective Taxes and
 County of Poa Taxes ^{you are} ~~ordered~~ ^{not left their} at the rate of ¹⁰ ~~10~~ cents
~~per day~~ wages by the day.

Print

David Stearns Gentleman

Ordered that the court be adjourned until the 1st Monday
 in February

David Stearns

Virginia to suit

At a court held for the County of Rockingham on Monday the 15th day of February 1836.

Present.

Stephen Harringer, Jacob Rees, Mechl^l Harris
Reuben Moore S. G. Justice

A list of conveyances, and other writings, admitted to Record in the Clerk's office of the County Court of Rockingham from the 1st to the 31st of January 1836. enclosed, was returned into Court by the Clerk thereof, and being examined, it orders to be entered on the Minutes and also left to be posted up at the door of the Court house of said County, and is as follows.

not found
ditto
found

Address for said from Mechal Alldoughs ex or to Saml Koffman

Address for said Jacob Good to Sanna M. Allen

Address Release Edward M. Smith to R. Harrison

not found

Address for said Thos. McDermott to Rosanna Pomeroy

found

Address for said John Curry to E. Curry

found

Address for said E. Bohm to Geo. H. Keigell

found

Address for said P. Keating ex or to Mr. Alston

found

Address for said Henry Martz to same

not found

Address for said Abram Painter to John Strayer &

ditto

Address for said John Roller to Elyjah Clarke

found

Address for said ^{P. Prop} Jacob Sager to Henry Sager

found

Address for said Geo. Harris to P. Bolinger

Address for said Peter Smith to Fielding Rager

not found

Address for said William Donaghe P to Geo. Roller

not found

Address Release Geo. Cannon to Jas. Henry

not found

Address for said Geo. Cannon to Thos. Miller

not found

Address for said Geo. Fultz to Geo. Gowd.

Address Trust Mr. Thacker to A. Smith for Jonathan Peal

found

Address for said Samuel Stouen to Lewis Stave

not found

Address for said Selas Stenton to Isaac Hardisty

found
found
not found
ditto
ditto
ditto
ditto
ditto

Adms for Land James Leray to John Beeson
Adms for Land M. Jones to W. J. Gambill in Trust for May A. Crow
Adms for Land M. Loomer was to Gabriel Stearns
Adms for Land Geo. Long to Barbara Pierce (Stephens)
Adms for Land B. Pierce to A. P. Fletchur in Trust for M. H. Effinger
Adms for Land A. Loomer to Wm. Thurman
Adms for Land M. Loomer was to D. Noalston
Adms for Land same to Catharine Loomer & M. Crow

Believe

Mattie Davis for bothin . . . Plaintiff
and
James Davis bothin . . . Defendants } In Chancery

This cause came on to be finally heard the 15th day of February 1826 on the papers formerly read in this cause and the two reports of Com. referees Michael H. Officer, and no exceptions being taken thereto, the same are hereby confirmed; Whereupon the arguments of Counsel being heard, it is adjudged ordered and decreed that Mattie Davis do bear and pay the one half, and the one eighth of the costs, incurred in the prosecution of this suit; - that James Davis & others ^{Children of Robert Davis dec'd} do pay another eighth part of the costs; that James Davis Ann Davis P. Children of James Davis dec'd, do pay another eighth part of the said costs and that Catharine Gordon P. Children of Catharine Gordon dec'd, do pay the other eighth part of the said costs -

Ordered that an Election be held on the second Saturday in March Next, at the several places hereinafter named, in the several Districts, in this County for the purpose of electing 3 proper and fit persons to act as Overseers of the poor in each district for this County, for the term of 3 years from the expiration of the present Overseers of the poor, that is to say, in the 1st District on the day aforesaid at the house of Daniel Derick, at the big Spring, and that said Daniel Derick's Supervisor's said Election, - in the 2^d District on the day aforesaid at the house of Samuel

Copies sent to each of the Superintendants -
4 March the 18 July 1826.

Boots in Turly Town, and that Saml. Booth Superintends the
 said Election, - In the 2^d District, on the day aforesaid at the
 house of Fountain Estes in Mount Crawford, and that Pleasant A. Clark
 Superintends the same, said Election, in the 4th District on the day
 aforesaid, at the house of Solomon Pirtay in W. G. Chy's Hill, and that
 Joseph Murray Superintends said Election, and it is ordered that
 the said Superintendants, make report to the Clerks of this Court
 as soon as they conveniently can after the said Election are held, - stating
~~the names of the persons elected, and whether~~ whether
 any Election were held, and if so. the names of the persons elected,
 and a list of the Voters poll^d, and it is further ordered that the Sheriff
 give public notice of said Election, in said Districts, to the freeholders
 and house keepers therein as the Law directs.

Elinora Mathews wife of Reuben Mathews did over 14
 years of age come into Court and made choice of George
 x William as her Guardian who entered into bond with security
 in the penalty of \$100 as the Law directs

Pleasant A. Clark (foreman) Cyrus Roads. Saml. Shatt. Peter
 Braman, John Bely, Jacob Linnick, George M. Henry. Richard
 Robertson, Melch. Ward, Addison W. Coym, David Litchman
 Perry, William B. Smith, Jacob Hupp, Henry Moyer, George
 Menden, Christian Setz, Saml. Shatt, & John Carr, were sworn
 Grand Jury for this county. who receive them charge and return
 from the bar to examine of them presentments and after some
 time returned into Court and upon their Oaths ~~and~~ found the
 following to wit the Indictment agt Jas Foley for a Misdemeanor
 at Bath, an Indictment agt Abraham Senck for an assault
 at Bath a third bill, and the said Grand Jury having no further
 business before them they were ~~discharged~~ discharged, and it is
 ordered that summonas be awarded, on the said Indictments returned
 here at May Court next

Melch. Ward & Robertson disupd agd

Settlement of the accounts of Casper Brannus deceased were returned, and examined by the Court, & ordered to be Recorded

On the Motion John Maduff admr of Hezekiah Sherry and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine said and settle the estate accounts of said Sherry and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Henry Stauch admr of Garthwaite Stauch and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine said and settle the estate accounts of said Stauch and make report to the Court

On the Motion of John & Daniel Denton, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$200.00 and made oath & shewed as the law directs, a certificate is granted them for obtaining Letters of administration on the estate of ~~the said~~ Joseph Denton deceased in due form, and it is ordered that Jacob Durand William Durand Jr, James Brewster & William New or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Joseph Denton and make report to the Court

Bramson Nicholas orphan of Jacob Nicholas now 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of John Rush as his Guardian who thereupon entered into bond with security as the law directs

A bill of the estate of Peter Koenig and was returned & ordered to be Recorded

Settlement of the estate accounts of Margaret Runkle deceased were returned, examined and ordered to be Recorded

It is ordered that the Overseer of the poor send Robert Johnson 5 years old the 1st of December last to Peter Plester to learn the farming business _____ as the law directs, who is to receive for freedom dues \$20

On the Motion John Durand & Abraham Knapp admr of Daniel Brookbank and it is ordered that William G. Thompson

be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate account of said Brookhart, and make report to the Court

Isaac Meyer, a son of Mechal Meyer, ^{14 years of age} now ^{came into Court &} made choice of said Mechal Meyer as his Guardian, and it is ordered that the said Mechal Meyer be appointed Guardian for the son Samuel Meyer, children by his wife Anna, formerly Anna Brown, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$4,000 as the Law directs

Moore v. Mager the Defendant appears in Court, and confesses a judgment for the Debt in the declaration mentioned with interest & Costs. (see also to lay until August Court next)

On the Motion of the executors of William Crawford deceased it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate account of said W. Crawford deceased and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Nicholas Parkey administrator of ^{Margaret} ~~Abigail~~ Parkey deceased it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate account of said May Parkey & make report to the Court

Sarah Meyer Widow of Abraham Meyer being under 21 years of age came into Court, and made choice of Martin Bartschelder as her Guardian, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$300 as the Law directs

On the Motion of Peter Cyles administrator of Joseph Stanton deceased it is ordered that Joseph Muzzy be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate account of said Joseph Stanton and make report to the Court

Prerogative

Anna v. Thomas & Jonathan Peal. absent Reuben Moore & M. H. H. Harris

James T. Green a constable on this County in the South River district came into Court, and notified his said Office, whereupon the Court proceeds to the election of a proper and fit person to fill said Office and the manner of the further precinct and votes being held in the manner directed by law. Elisha J. Williams was duly elected, whereupon the said Elisha J. Williams appears in Court and enters into bond

Gibbs vs Chew. By consent of the parties all matters in difference between them in this suit is referred to the award and final determination of Edward H. Smith & Jonathan Shaver, whose award or the award of their umpire, in case of disagreement is to be made the Judgment of the Court.

On the Motion of John Rolton, it is ordered that Michael H. Harris and Edward Harris be appointed Commissioners to examine and settle the accounts of said John Rolton as Guardian of, Jacob Geary, Joseph & Catharine Armentrout Children of John Armentrout deceased and make report thereof to the Court.

It is ordered that the Court be adjourned until to morrow morning at 10 o'clock

Stephen Marsbury

Tuesday the 16th February 1836

Just

Richard P. Fletcher, Stephen Marsbury, Saml^d & Lewis
& Isaac Thomas
S. G. Justice

Comth vs Lincoln Debt call? not appearing. Capis awarded. apt the Debt & returnable here at May Court next

Steel vs McMahon continues for award

Young vs Pochan vs Poyer continues by consent

Peckering vs Roads continues by consent

G. Grand vs Matthews ^{adm} plea was? and by Court Judgment for the Plaintiff further the Debt shall have a prefer^{ence} fin^{ance} belongs to the estate of the Defendants intestate!

Joseph Craven, Sheriff of this County. ^{admitted} into Court and took the several Oaths of Office as the Law directs which is ordered to be certified

Albany vs Mary continues

Craven vs Shus continues

King adm & W. M. Adams Contina

Hammah adm & Stolbroth Contina by Court

Merrill for R. W. Carr) - Woods W. E. set aside N. A. please

Handwritten text: ... and Contina

Herman - Mohlen adm ~~disrupt~~ disrupt agud

Sumner & Seigler ~~Restoration~~ John Henry Security for Court

all offers for and by court, ^{with} Contina

Sumner & Seigler said

Stephen P. Davis & Smith Contina by Court

On the Motion of Joseph Leaven Sheriff of this County, George St. Chrisman, John St. Stephens, Williams Leaven, David St. Hutton, Jacob A. Melsted & Peter Hicks are appointed his Deputies, and all of whom appears in Court, and took the several Oaths of office as the law directs, which is ordered to be Certified the Court being of the Opinion that the said Chrisman & others are all men of honest property and good demeanour.

Graham & Mellis Contina for the Plaintiff

Beards adm for L. T. - Beard Contina by Court

Smith Hob & Peirce disrupt agud (Contina)

Cloud & Shoup said - (see page no 5774)

Fulke exor & Whelsh said

Ried & St. Philips said

sams & Carr said

Coffman (Stray for Ried) & St. Philips said

Shary for (Hutton for) & Farrler said

Scott for use of C. Dokman) - St. Rogers & Jury sworn to by the Jury to wit: Isaac Sellers, John D. Moyer, Robert Jones, George M. Pejee, James Ranken, Leonard Fawcett, Williams Davis

Feeling Rager, Bryan South, Daniel Steensma, Thomas Linder & John Seto, whereupon ^{by court} John Seto one of the said jurors was withdrawn and the rest of the jurors from rendering their verdict discharged and the cause is Continued until the next Court

Rice vs. Co. Rader Office Judgment set aside payment. General replication to issue and Continued

Kemp vs. Peters adms Office Judgment set aside payment, and fully admitted pleas. General replication to issue and Continued

Rain vs. Dean Dismissed, each party to pay one half of the costs & expenses in this suit

Smith vs. D. Fisher Office Judgment set aside payment. General replication to issue and Continued

Roy vs. Peters adms Office Judgment set aside payment & fully admitted pleas. General replication to issue and Continued

Young vs. Bateman, Office Judgment set aside payment. General replication to issue and Continued

Rice vs. Smith same

Rice vs. S. Darrow same

Rice vs. S. Darrow same

Koontz (W. T.) vs. Henry Booz same

Clayton (for B. Crawford) vs. Mr. McMahon same

Parson (for P. Suggs) vs. St. Rogers same

On the Motion of William Hisev adms of Daniel Dinkels and Seto is granted that Worthy Newham be appointed a commissioner to examine into and settle the estate accounts of said Daniel Dinkels and make report thereof to the Court

Rader vs. Lark (in ^{Court} Case) By court dismissed at the Plaintiff's costs & Judgment accordingly

Rader vs. Lark (in ^{Court} Case) By court dismissed agreed

Carron (for Mr. Latham) vs J. Tindon, Jury sworn to try the issue to wit John Seay, Michael S. Rutherford, Daniel Wapleth, Clemon Erwin, Mann McCallan, Jehu Looker, George Detomas, George

Sellars, John Baker, Saml Seygett, Otway Stetings & Daniel Layman, Verdict for the Plaintiff for the debt in the declaration with with interest from 28th September 1829 till paid, & Judgment accordingly

Gebbs vs Oleno, Judgment entered by the Defendant for the Plaintiff sum of \$1250 with Damages. Costs of Suit

Botton vs Moore M & C set aside & a new replication & Affidavit

Harris vs Brock. M & C set aside & a new replication & Affidavit

Gambell (for Mr. Denton) vs Robertson. M & C set aside & a new replication & Affidavit

Robert Rice vs Henry Booz. By consent of the parties, all matters in difference between them in this suit is referred to the award and final determination of Edward W. Smith, Andrew Newman & Jacob Rohr, whose award, or the award of any two of them is to be made the Judgment of the Court.

Ordered that the Court be adjourned until to morrow morning at 10 o'clock

R. P. Fletcher

17
Wednesday the 17th of February 1836

Present

Stephen Vanbarger, Saml St. Lewis, Jacob Reub
and Isaac Thomas E. G. Justice

- Stearns vs. Pettibone & Whelms vs. Disrupt agreed
- Coffman for M. New vs. P. Steph. plea wants to Inspect copy for the
Court in the declaration Monday will exhibit Moore & Logan arguing agently Cost test is
(can't be pro)
- Rice vs. Peckering vs same
- Laird vs. Logan Jr same
- Shepherd vs. Woods same
- M. Rice vs. Logan Jr same
- Rice vs. Lott vs same
- Boonbarger vs. Mansfield same
- Coffman Cooper vs. Bowman vs same
- Mitchell for vs. Sturges vs same
- Effinger vs. Benscholden vs same
- Hoffman vs. Sturges vs same
- Christman for vs. Ashenfelter vs same
- Kooger vs. Sharpy same
- Mooreman vs. Peckering vs same
- Mooreman vs. same same
- Christman vs. Logan Jr same
- Graham vs. Graves same
- Fellous vs. Parry same
- S. Coffman for New vs. Miller same
- Mellis Guardian vs. Parren adms plea of fully assets pleaded. G. ev. reflects
to them and entered

Robinson & Co. vs. Stephens continued by court

Graham & Rogers continued by court

Lacey & Bowen jury sworn to try the case to wit Christian Garber, Robert Jones, William Earned, William Devere, James Duff, Thomas Logar Jr. James McArdie, Abraham Bantcholder, Henry Black, John D. Lloyd, William Payne & John A. Waring. Verdict for the Plaintiff for \$500 Carriage and Judgment.

Hopton & Robinson discussed agreed (cont. to)

Beggerton & Stone continued for the Plaintiff

May Newport & The London plea was ^{the Defendant} ~~waived~~ ^{appears in court} and confessed a judgment for \$110. Damages to be paid in the following manner to wit \$30 ^{part thereof now} ~~to wit~~ due with interest from 1st Feby 1834 and by \$20 ~~which shall be so~~ payable on 1st Feby 1835 and \$20 on the same 1st Feby 1836 (and \$20 payable on 1st Feby 1837 and \$20 payable on 1st Feby 1838) with interest on ^{each of} the said payments of \$20 from the time they shall respectively become due, and Costs

Between

Joseph Weeks Plaintiff

and

in Chancery.

Carroll Wright & Defendant

Answer filed by the Defendant George M. Speck. Grand replication to and this cause came on (by court) to be heard this 1st day of Feby 1836 on the bill exhibits filed in the cause and the answer of the Defendant George M. Speck, and it appearing to the satisfaction of the Court that more than four months has elapsed since the filing of the bill, and that the order of publication heretofore awarded in this cause had been executed according to law, and the rules of this Court, the Plaintiff bills is therefore taken for confessed, as to the said Defendant Carroll Wright and wife, and was argued by counsel, on consideration whereof, it is adjudged & decreed, that the Plaintiff recover of the Defendant Carroll Wright, and wife, the sum of



copy for def

\$132 with interest thereon to be computed at the rate of 6 per cent per annum from the 18th of April 1805 to the said; and it is further ordered & decreed; that Thomas Harris & Madeline Benson, he and is hereby appointed commissioners, whose duty it shall be to value the same of the Defts Prigitt and wife on the bill and other proceedings mentioned, and that they make report to this Court, in or on to a final decree

Black & Gelmead continue by agreement for Defendants

Kingman & Miller continue

Gaily (for P. Gosard) & Gray & La well & Co continue

Miller & Perry continue

Roberts Sellars & Quibbler advise the Defendants pleaded the act of limitation to which the Defts ^{attorney} reply generally & specific in their respective forms, and the Deft for further plea in this behalf offers a special plea in writing, to the reception of which the Plaintiff's Attorney objects, which objection was overruled by the Court, and plea received, to which the Deft reply generally & specific thereupon, joined, and thereupon came on a Jury to wit: George Sellars, Mann Stouch, Frederick Mayer, John Seay, Jonathan Shaver, William Rogers, John Cooper, Thomas Sinden, Archd. Rutherford, ~~Robert Jones~~, Benjamin Stover, Benjamin Steller & Paschal Jones Verdict for the Plaintiff for \$150 Damages with interest from the 17. February 1836 to the said, & Judgment accordingly. To be seized of the Goods and Chattels of the said ~~Roberts~~ ~~Roberts~~ in the hands of the said Defendant to be administered

Royce & M. M. are continue by consent

Duff & Rutherford Jury sworn to by the free to wit: Robert Jones, William Earnes, William News, Thomas Logan, Abraham Burkholder.

Henry Black, John Miller, William Payne, John A. Herring, William Biggerton, James Gladden, ² Henry Gelmead, Verdict for the Deft for \$70.18 cents Damages, with interest from 17. Februry 1836 to the said & Judgment

Deft cont
70
18
24
18
54 4

Perry & Baker & ^{Looker} Logans continue by consent

Bowyer and (for P.) & Looker cont for Defendant

C Jordan v Wright Controversy by current

C Harrison v Wright Controversy by current

C Smithman v. DeWitt M & C. et al. Controversy performed by current

C Smithman v. Paul M & C. et al. Controversy performed by current

C Smith v. DeWitt M & C. et al. Controversy performed by current

C Step v. Grubb Controversy by current

C Might v. Melberger M & C. et al. Controversy performed by current

C Shaw for Gibbons v. DeWitt M & C. et al. Controversy performed by current

C Shaw v. Gibbons Controversy

ad p.

C Stray v. Miller jury sworn to enforce of Damages to unit
George M. Peper, Jacob Bay, Michael DeWitt, Daniel Jones, John
B. Meyer, Mrs. A. A. Huffer, Joseph Keller, Brothers DeWitt, John
Baker, Philip DeWitt, William DeWitt & Co. Bellman, verdict
for the Plaintiff for \$35.09 with Damages with interest from 17 Feb
1836 till paid to DeWitt

C Shaw v. Logan plea to award of DeWitt capped for \$16.50
with interest from 17 Feb 1836 till paid to DeWitt

C Christman v. Christman Controversy by current

C Zimmerman v. Nicely Controversy by current

C Arthur v. Hollis Controversy by current

C Springer v. Parly Controversy by current

C Pater v. Bohannon Controversy by current

C Arguebright adm v. Logan Jr. Controversy for Defendant

C North adm v. J. DeWitt Controversy for Defendant

C Perce v. Smith Controversy

C Rutherford adm v. DeWitt Controversy by current

Moore v Linn the admissions plea of fully admitted & unreplicated
of fine and content

C Miller v Graham, In Chancery the second term
saw the deposition of the ^{by insertion} ~~proprietor~~ in the bill mentions, and
no cause being shown for the content of the said bill, or the
Motion of the Defendants by his Court, it is ordered, that the
same be dismissed, and that the Plaintiff pay to the Clerk his
own costs by him or about his defence in this behalf expended

C Joseph Lewis v Geo. L. Pender & Chas. Lewis the same order
as in the case of Graham vs Miller (as to Defts. Dr. rights admissions)

Smith v Co v Graham office Inapt set aside paid by unreplicated
of fine & content

C saw v M. Wells same

C Delmonico v G. G. v M. Ferry same

It is ordered that the Court do adjourn until the third
Monday in March next

Stephen Harnsberger

Virginia to wit

At a Court held for the County of Rockingham on the third Monday being the 21st day of March 1836.

Present

Michael S. Harris, Jacob Rees, Robert G. Galloway and Reuben Moore. E. G. Justice

A Book of Conveyances and other writings admitted to Record in the Clerk's office of the County Court of Rockingham from the 1st to the 29th day of February 1836. both days included, was returned into Court by the Clerk thereof, and being examined by the Court the same is ordered to be entered on the Minutes, and a like list is ordered to be posted up at the door of the Court house of said County & is as follows to wit,

not found
found
not found
ditto
ditto
found
not found
ditto
ditto
found
found
not found
found
not found
ditto
found

- Adm for said David Strecker to Michael Lewis
- Adm for said William Perreale to Christian Zimmerman
- Adm for said Adam Stave to Abraham Stave
- Adm for said John Flora to Daniel Roadcap
- Adm for said ^{Wm. Delcarr} ~~John~~ Flora Meek Flora to D. Roadcap
- Adm for said Jehu Looker to D. H. Gambell in trust for Margart Looker
- Adm for said G. H. Chrisman P. to Daniel Carr
- Adm for said John Miller to George Miller
- Adm for said Joseph Helms to Mary McCune
- Adm for said Samuel Deibel P. to M. S. Harris
- Adm for said D. Brannaman to D. P. Hatcher in trust for Meek B. Oliver
- Adm for said ~~Joseph~~ ^{to carry said} Joseph Feazel to Samuel Nash
- Adm for said George Bremer to John Bremer.
- Adm for said John T. Gordon to D. H. Gambell in trust for J. H. Stephens
- Adm for said Daniel Deibel to Michael Peterman
- Adm for said Solomon Luawech to George Luawech (for said)
- Adm for said Solomon Luawech to George Luawech
- Adm for said Christian Moyer to John Higgins
- Adm for said Jehu Looker to D. H. Gambell in trust for J. H. Stephens

The Court proceed to appoint Commissioners to Superintend the several Elections districts appointed by law to be held in this County on the third Monday in April next for the purpose of Electing two persons proper and fit persons to represent the County of Rockingham in the next General assembly; Whereupon it is Ordered that the persons herein after named, and assigned to each of the places for holding Elections, do and they hereby are, appointed Commissioners to Superintend said Elections, any two or more of them, being faith sworn, may act - that is to say, At Mr. Mumbo
 x At West Gattow, John H. Campbell, Abram Smith & Allen C. Pryor
 at the Court house of said County, - At Col Mumbo, Saml Coote & William Mewen, Isaac Beards & Saml Miller at the house of Beards in North Gap - At Saml G. ent, Geo Doumar, Amara Moffett & Abram Knapp & Jm Doumar, at John Zeglen School house in Ferriswell - At Jacob Beards, Peter P. Kourty, G. cap Roads, Denton Mow & Jm. Garrison at Richard Beckings in Sparto. - Henry Coarod. Jacob Coarod John Gibbons, Tho Miller & William Wymstborough
 at the place call Courods old stone, and it is further ordered that the said Commissioners proceed to hold said Elections at the several places aforesaid, in the manner directed by law and report the same accordingly

Cepr mead out

David Sericols, who was at February Court last appointed to Superintend an Election of in 3 proper and fit persons, to act as Overseers of the poor for the 1st District in this County - Samuel Beards, William Mewen
 x Abraham Mewen appointed for the 2nd District, - Pleasant A. Blake who was in like manner appointed for the 3rd District, - and Joseph Maury who was in like manner appointed for the 4th District, Severally reported that no Elections was held by them, at the time and places appointed, - Owing to the slow appearance of the Voters in said Districts - Whereupon the Court doth hereby appoint John F. Effinger William West & Peter Stanton Overseers of the poor in and for said 1st District - John Rush

(27)

Quorum of the poor for the 4th District

Ordnance, - William B. Garry for the 4th District - and Michael H. Harris

Ordnance of the poor for the 5th District, which said several persons are to continue in office for 3 years from the first day of April next, and are hereby directed and required, on or before the 1st (said 1st day of April next) or as soon thereafter, thereafter as may be, to go before some Justice of the peace for this County, and then and then take the several oaths of office, as prescribed and directed by law, all which is ordered accordingly.

Samuel Mather... Appellant

On an appeal to the Court by the Appellant

By consent of the parties by their attorneys, the Judgment rendered by the Appellee against the Appellant is hereby affirmed for the sum of \$500.00, his costs expenses in defending said appeal here.

On the Motion of John D. Moyer ^{administrator} of Barbara Ann Gowls and, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Barbara A. Gowls and also make report thereof to the Court

Ordered that the Overseer of the poor David Henry be directed a son of Medson Harpell 9 years old the 5 of November next to Philip Rohr, to learn the trade of a Wagon Maker as the Law directs who is to receive for freedom dues \$20.

A Writing purporting to be the last will and testament of Tyro R. Brown deceased, was produced in Court, by John Nicholas one of the executors thereof named, and there being no subscribing Witnesses thereto, John Bartholomew & John W. Austin were sworn and severally deposed that they are well acquainted with the Testator's hand writing, and verily believe the said Writing by the name thereto subscribed to be wholly written by the Testator's own hand, whereupon the said Writing is ordered to be Read as the true last will and testament of said Tyro R. Brown

Decreed, whereupon on the Motion of s^r John Nicholas who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$8,000 & made oath thereto, as the Law directs, a Certificate is granted him for obtaining a Probate in due form. (Jacob Robinson the other executor named in the said will appeared in Court and Relinquished his right to act) and it is ordered that Abraham Deal, Peter Miller, Peter ~~King~~ ^{Smith} & George Safley or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of s^r Brown and make report to the Court

Hyacinth C. Brown orphan of Tye B. Brown and over 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of John Nicholas as her Guardian, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$35.00 as the Law directs

Hyacinth Hoover orphan of John Hoover and over 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of Michael Wern as her Guardian who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$8.00 as the Law directs

Ordered that Jacob Hoover be appointed Guardian for David Hoover orphan of John Hoover and under 14 years of age, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$800 as the Law directs

A Settlement of the estate accounts of John Bowman, ^{forrest} dec^d was returned into Court, examined & ordered to be Recorded

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Peter Sowerwine and was presented in Court, and proved by the oaths of the witnesses thereto & ordered to be Recorded, and on the Motion of Robert Cogley the executor named in the said Will, who entered into ~~own~~ bond with security in the penalty of \$6,000 and made oath thereto as the Law directs a Certificate is granted him for obtaining a Probate thereof in due form, and it is ordered that George Soudin Sr, Andrew Chabough, Abram Chabough & Jacob Bowen or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Sowerwine and make report to the Court

Mary, John & Mourses Mellis Children of Benjamin Mellis and over 14 years of age came into Court and made show of Abraham Byss as their Guardian, — and it is ordered
 * that the said Abraham Byss be appointed Guardian for Adela, Martha & Abraham Mellis Children of said Benja Mellis of said Benj Mellis dec'd, who thereupon entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$8,000 as the Law directs

On the Motion of John Prover, who made oath thereunto and entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$2,000. a certificate is granted therefor for Obtaining letters of administration on the said estate ~~in~~ ⁱⁿ ~~and~~ ⁱⁿ form, and it is ordered that Joseph Mellis, Jacob Mellis Martin Mellis Jr and Jacob Sanger, being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Mary Samain dec'd and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Daniel Denton ~~and~~ and it appearing to the Court that he has purchased out the gross store of Jonathan Lamb, it is ordered that the said Daniel Denton have leave ~~to purchase the store of said Lamb~~ ^{to} sell the goods so purchased by him, for the unexpired term of the term of said Lamb in the manner directed by Law

On the Motion of John Christman, it is ordered that
 * he be appointed Guardian of factus on Specer and orphan of Perry Specer dec'd (under 14 years of age) he having entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$200 as the Law directs

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Benjamin Fishback dec'd, was presented in Court and proved by the witnesses thereto & ordered to be Received

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Adam Michael deceased was presented in court and proved by the oaths of Joseph Maury & George Bell two Witnesses thereto. Orders to be Recorded, and on the Motion of Henry Michael the executor named in the said will who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$2,500. and made oath thereto, as the Law directs a Certificate is granted him for obtaining probate thereof in due form, and it is ordered that Henry Kepling, John Heckerle Jacob Ammon & Jacob Argubright or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Adam Michael and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Christian Brody, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$500. and made oath thereto as the Law directs a Certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of administration in the estate of ^{James} Vantrump deceased in due form, and it is ordered that John Peery, Henry Wagner, Noah Bowen and Joseph Wagner or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Vantrump and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Henry Peery who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$500. and made oath thereto as the Law directs a Certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of administration in the estate of Barbara Peery deceased in due form, and it is ordered that Joseph Larson, Christian Murrain and Abraham Murrain or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of said Barbara Peery and make report to the Court

On the Motion of the executor of John Peery deceased it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a Commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said John Peery and make report thereto to the Court

On the Motion of John D. Starnes, who made oath thereto, and ^{David Peter} with ^{the wife} together with Emanuel Starnes & others his security entered into and acknowledged bond in the penalty of \$10,000. Committed as the Law directs, he is appointed to collect and preserve the goods & chattels of Robert Magell deceased until the executor named in his will shall qualify, or until the further order of the Court and it is ordered that Harry W. Wood, Jacob Wyant Christian Miller ^{& Michael Miller} or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the

David Peter
with the wife
at March 1876

estate of the said Robert Mayll decd. and make report thereof to the Court

John Moyes a son of ^{Michael} ~~John~~ Moyes and Devere of Martin persons and now 14 years of age came into Court and made show of said ^{Michael} ~~John~~ Moyes his father as his guardian who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$3000 as the law directs

It is ordered that Martin Buntcholder be appointed Guardian for Benjamin Moyes a son of ^{Michael} ~~John~~ Moyes & Legatee of Martin Crouse decd. now 14 years of age. who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$4000 as the law directs

It is ordered that Jacob Moyes be appointed Guardian of Catherine Moyes a Daughter of ^{Michael} ~~John~~ Moyes & Legatee of Martin Crouse decd. now 14 years of age. who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$4000 as the law directs

On the motion of Joseph Maury Surveyor of this County and for Neason appearing to the Court. Elias Storr is appointed his Deputy Surveyor. who thereupon appears in Court and takes the several oaths of office as the law directs. which is ordered to be Certified

A Report of the News of an alteration in the road leading from Harrisburg to the old furnace, made on the petition of Edward St. Smith, was returned into Court. and being examined, the said alteration is hereby affirmed, agreeable to the said Report. which is ordered accordingly

On the motion of Richard Peckering, and he having paid to the Sheriff \$3. it is ordered that a License be granted him to keep an Ordinary in this County until the next May Court next, on his entering into bond with security in the Clerk's office as the law directs. the Court being of the opinion that the said Richard Peckering is

man of good character, not addicted to drunkenness or gambling and that he will keep an orderly and useful house of entertainment.

Facot Coffman orphan of Jacob Coffman (decd) decd and grand son of Jacob Coffman (decd) now 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of John Zegler as his Guardian, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$500. as the law directs

^{July 10} ~~July 10~~ W. D. Brown orphan of Tyre R. Brown decd now 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of Abraham N. Brown, ^{as his Guardian} who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$15.00 as the law directs

At and that Noaham Mearns be appointed a school commissioner in this County, in the room of Tyre R. Brown decd

On the motion of Abraham Deal son of Abraham Deal decd. it is ordered that Isaac Bellan be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Deal and make report to the Court

On the motion of John Pennington son of Jacob Pennington decd it is ordered that ~~the~~ Jacob Pennington be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Jacob Pennington and make report to the Court

Thompson v. Dyer's Exrs on a Note on a delay to pay Note found 400. Dyer's Exrs not appearing. Judgment & execution awarded

Samuel Cook who was appointed to superintend an election of 3 proper and fit persons to act as Jurors of the poor in and for the 2^d District in this County, reported that Jacob Trumbo, John Kistner and said ~~James~~ Samuel Cook were duly elected, whereupon it is ordered that they be appointed Jurors for said district who are to serve for 3 years from 1st day of April next & that they on or before ^{this day 1st of April} the 1st day or as soon thereafter as possible go to the same Jurors of the poor for this

Copies for each of the shiffs reports filed amongst the Jurors at mark 1896.

and take the several oaths of office as the law directs

C. Smith vs. Blazer. on appeal for breach of the peace.
 The parties having agreed upon this prosecution the same is ordered to
 be dismissed

Ordered that the Court do adjourn until the 7th
 Monday in April next.

Jacob Pursh

not found ✓ Order for Lewis F. Murray v. to R. County trust for Peter Kooby & Geo. Roads
 not found ✓ Order for Lewis Henry Feazel v. to John Beards
 not found ✓ Order for Lewis Harry Eagle to Peter M. Whitman
 not found ✓ Order for Personal Property Isaac Newberry to D. St. Gambell trust for A. Brannaman
 not found ✓ Order for Lewis Jacob Nicholas exec. to Philip Siggell

On the Motion of Peter Zelly, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine and settle the accounts of said Peter Zelly as executor of John Hartley, or Harting, nephew of Peter Harting and and make report to the Court

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of John Sheets deceased was presented in Court and proved by the oath of Edward H. Smith, Amos Hatfield & John Coffey the witnesses thereto & ordered to be Record, and on the Motion of John Sheets for the executor thereof names who made oath thereto and entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$2,000 a certificate is granted him for obtaining approval thereof in any form, and it is ordered that Anthony H. Saffner, George Beigel, James Lewis & John Coffey or any 3 of them being first sworn as appraisers the estate of said John Sheets and make report to the Court

Adm. bill of the estate of Peter Lewis deceased was returned & ordered to be Record

Wearer for use Read) - Hordallow on a note in all day bond
 now paid off call. Beretta and award

Thompson H. Hollar do saw
 Trout " Read do saw

On the Motion Abraham Brannaman admin of Malchus Brannaman dec. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine and settle the estate accounts of said Malchus Brannaman & make report to the Court

C On the Motion of Jacob & John Reub adms Debonostrow of Philip Royer and it is Orains that Joseph Maury be appointed a commissioner to examine stolo and settle the estate accounts of said Philip Royer and make report to the Court

C On the Motion of Elias S. Terry and he having taken the Oath prescribed by Law he is admitted to practice as an attorney in this Court

C Settlement of the estate accounts of Joseph Stanton and was returned, examined & ordered to be Received

C Settlement of the Guardians accounts of Peter Cyles as Guardian of Sarah Stanton, was returned, examined & ordered to be Received

Orains that the Court be adjourned until to morrow morning at 10 o'clock
Peachy Harrison

Tuesday the 19th of April 1836

Peachy Harrison, Richard P. Fletcher, Augustus Waterman
Pierce Augustus Moffett
S. G. Justice

~~By appearance made & full bill of the estate of Debonostrow & Maury and was returned & ordered to be Received~~

On the Motion of John Brown an Orain of Bradburn

Certificates of the qualifications of John Reub, Jacob Strayer, Mechaub H. Harris, Jacob Trumb, John F. Effinger, Peter Stanton, Jacob Prew and John Nizer, as Overseers of the Poor of this County, was returned, and ordered to be entered of Record

C Byms & Lindon vs on a Note on Wely Bond Note promiss & Differs
K Call execution awarded

C Henry (for use Effinger) vs W. Mahan & ... same as to William
K (W. Mahan only)

+ Orders that Joseph Blend be appointed Surveyor of Precinct No 2
in the road leading from Newmarket to Procks Gap in Room of
John Blend

+ Orders that Samuel Moffitt be appointed Surveyor of Precinct
No 2 on ^{Procks Gap road on North side North fork Shawanook} the road leading from ~~Newmarket~~ ^{Newmarket} in Room of ~~Samuel~~
Samuel Moffitt

+ Orders that Mathias Mireck Jr be appointed Surveyor of Precinct
No 2 on the road leading to Peter Lereim Milt in the Room of
Mathias Mireck Jr.

Com with Berryman Sharps on recogny for arrears of
the peace. The Defendant, appears in Court in discharge of
his recogny. and thereupon by Court Confined a Squiret for
the Costs of this prosecution, and was discharged.

Com with ~~his~~ ~~successors~~ same

Com with N. Sharps same

Com with Jacob Staro same

Com with John Kespinger same

A Register of Stephen a free boy of Colour taken by the
+ Clerk, was returned into Court and being compared with
the said Stephen and found duly read, a copy thereof
orders to be furnished him in the manner directed by
Law

A Settlement of the estate accounts of John Bowman
deceased, was returned, and examined, and orders to be
Recorded

Orders that the Court be adjourned until the third
Monday in May Next,

Pemby Harrison

Virginia to wit
At a court held for the County of Rockingham on the third Monday
being the 16th day of May 1836
Present

Michael St. Harris. Robert G. Catton Reuben Moad
& Charles C. Spear S. G. Justice
A set of Deeds & other writings admitted to Record in the Clerk's
office of the County Court of Rockingham from the 1st to the 30th of
April 1836. Inclusive, was returned into Court, and being
examined, is ordered to be entered on the Minutes, and also left
open to be put up at the door of the Court house of said County,
and is as follows.

- not found ✓ Adms of release John G. Brown P. to Martin Milled
- not found ✓ Adms for said John Cooke to D. H. Gambill in trust for David Cook
- found ✓ Adms for said John Lofter to said in trust for John Blair
- found ✓ Adms for said Philip Dull to M. Effinger in trust for L. Ferris
- found ✓ Adms for said Philip Dull to Christian Ferris
- found ✓ Adms for said Parrish Boughner ex or to Moses Lanson
- found ✓ Adms for said John Maggart to said
- not found ✓ Adms for said Henry Erusolo to Daniel Erusolo
- found ✓ Adms for said John Starnes to W. P. Stephens in trust for Arch Stephens
- not found ✓ Adms for said Solomon Cord to John Sybert
- found ✓ Adms for said Parrish Cole to Solomon Cord
- not found ✓ Adms for said John Shaver P. to John Klein
- found ✓ Adms for said John Fisher P. to Parrish Fisher
- found ✓ Adms for P. Property W. Gladwell to Estate in trust for Jacob Nacey
- not found ✓ Adms for said Samuel Marty to Peter Holmberg
- not found ✓ Adms for P. Property d. Darrow to A. C. Byars in trust for J. M. Alder
- not found ✓ Adms for P. Property, J. Souwman to W. Pagen in trust for E. H. Smith P.
- not found ✓ Adms for said Charles Fawcett to N. P. Stetson in trust for Jacob Ross
- not found ✓ Adms of lease for said Philip Shep to Catharine Wills P. Property.
- not found ✓ Adms for said Service Fry P. to William G. Proctor
- found ✓ Adms of atty James Reers to James G. Garner
- found ✓ Adms for said James Reers to Marcus Byrd
- found ✓ Adms for said Joseph Snell P. to Henry Snell
- not found ✓ Adms for said Henry Snell to Joseph Snell
- found ✓ Adms for said Meckel Delmar to Martin Milled

On the Motion of George Piers admr of John Piers and
 as admr of Polly Piers and it is ordered that William Wentz
 be appointed a commissioner to take and settle the
 said estate accounts and make reports thereof to the Court

On the Motion of Peter Swoope admr of Peter Swoope and
 it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a
 commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts
 of said Swoope and make report to the Court

On the Motion of Stephen Roadcap admr of Isaac
 Roadcap and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed
 a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate
 accounts of said Roadcap and make report to the
 Court

~~Caroline~~
 Caroline Taylor ^{Daughter} of John Taylor, from under her
 + hand that under chow of Erasmus Coffman as her Guardian
 * (she being over 14 years of age) who entered into bond with
 security in the penalty of \$800.00 conditioned on the said debts

An appraisment bill of the estate of Jas. McWilliam and
 was returned and to be received

George Couros (Juryman) Dr. M. Roalston, James M. Allen
 Absolom Wright, Joseph Mount, John Lyburt, Mesh Howard
 John Harrison, George Raden, William Burryden, Reuben Kooty,
 Daniel Frank, Abraham Lincoln, Adam Shally, Peter P. Kientz
 Pleasant A. Blake, Peter Swoope, Jacob Rohr, John Lardis, James
 Floras, Thomas M. Mansfield, Saml. Miller P. Adam Foynt were
 sworn a Grand Jury for this County, who received their charge &
 retired from the bar to consider of their presentments, and after
 some time returned ~~the following~~ into Court, and
 declared they had no presentments to make, and the
 said Grand Jury having no business before them they were
 discharged

Or. and that John Blain be appointed by order of the Court for the
Trustees, Caroline, infant Ch. admr of Jesse Blain dec'd
who enters into bond with security in the penalty of \$2000
* as the law directs, the said Ch. admr being under 14 years of
age

Certificates of the qualifications of John Kistner, Samuel
Boots & William B. Garney as Overseers of the poor of this
* County, were returned and ordered to be entered of Record

(C.P.)

On the Motion of John Blain, who enters into bond with
security in the penalty of \$2000. and reads oaths thereto as
the law directs a certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of
administration on the estate of Jesse Blain dec'd in due
form, the Widow of the said Jesse Blain having from time
to time relinquished her right to administration, and it is
ordered that, John Fairbanks, Jacob Bourman, Christy
Coffman & Thomas Sanders or any 3 of them being first
sworn do appraise the estate of s^r Jesse Blain and make
report to the Court

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of
of Jacob Nicely dec'd, was presented in Court, and was
proved by the oaths of Peter Good ~~the~~ ^{Jarvis} Plythe and ordered to
be Recorded

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of
Henry Miller dec'd was presented in Court, and with the
Codicils thereto annexed, (the body of the said will was proved
by the oaths of Jacob Shank, & the Codicils was proved by the
oaths of the witnesses thereto, which will & Codicils are ordered
to be Recorded, and on the Motion of Isaac Long the executor
named in the said will who enters into bond with security
in the penalty of \$800. and reads oaths thereto as the law
directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate
thereof in due form, and it is ordered that Samuel
Miller, Michael Miller, Samuel Weaver & John Overole
or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise

(C.P.)

the estate of said Henry Miller and make report thereof to the Court

Ordered that, ~~Whiddowson~~ Daniel Flood be appointed Guardian for William, Amariah, Joshua, Ezra & Jacob Merritt's infant children of said Merritt deceased under 14 years of age, who enters into bond with security in the penalty of \$2000. as the law directs

On the Motion of John W. Hopkins, who enters into bond with security in the penalty of \$10,000. and makes oath thereof as the law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of administration on the estate of said Garrison K. Kistye deceased in due form, and it is ordered that George Bruffey, Samuel Shacklet & Solomon M. Sherman & Allen C. Bryan or any 3 of them first sworn do appraise the estate of said S. K. Kistye and make report to the Court

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Peter Palmer dec. was presented in Court and proved by the oath of Philip Parrot Witness thereto, and ordered to lay for further proof. ^{not} Chas. M. ^{and will} the exec. named in said ^{will} appeared in Court before to act.

A Settlement of the Guardian accounts of John Keller for the infant children of John Merritt dec. was returned, examined & ordered to be recorded

On the Motion of John Brown adm. of John Kyleson dec. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Kyleson and make report thereof to the Court

On the Motion of John & Abner M. Williams adm. of James M. Williams dec. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said James & make reports to the Court

On the Motion of George Bruffy, Fountain Ester

and they having paid to the sheriff the taxes imposed by Law, it is ordered that he may be granted them to keep on Drains ages at their houses in this County until the May Court 1837, or their entering into bond with security in the Clerk's office as the Law directs, the Court being of the Opinion, and that the said George Bruffy and Fountain Ester are Men of good Character not addicted to Drunkenness or Gambling, and that they will keep on orderly and useful houses of entertainment.

Ordnance of the Poor in Washington Twp, on a Repley as the father of an illegitimate child of Mary Ann Talo, the said defendant appeared in Court, and confessed and admitted for \$140. that he was the father of the said Barbara Child and agreed to pay to the said Ordinance of the Poor for the support of the said Barbara Child the sum of \$140. in the following manner that is to say \$20 forthwith, and then \$20 annually from this day until the said sum of \$140 be paid, and the said defendant not being able to give security, she was not placed in Custody by the agent of the Ordinance of the Poor, and she remains from Custody.

Ordnance that John Radwin be appointed a commissioner to lay off the Setty establishment New Road, from the mouth of Brook Gap to the County line of Sharransdale, into feet and corners presents, and to lot to the said presents the Steep pay hands to work thereon, taking care to apportion the said from the hands allotted on the Roads most convenient to said New Road, and also to be considered as proper and fit persons as Surveyors or Surveyors of said presents, and to report also the roads and presents from which said hands shall be taken, to the Next Court.

Ordnance that the Court be adjourned until to Morrow Morning at 11 o'clock.

Chas. H. Hays

41
Tuesday the 17th May 1836

Present

David Stanton, Jacob Starniburg, Jacob Ruck
& Robert Grattan Jr. E. G. Justice

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Peter Palmer and was again presented in Court and was further proved by the oath of Reuben Moore attesting that it was to be Received and on the Motion of David Palmer the executor named in the said Will who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$2500 and made oath thereof as the Law directs, a Certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate thereof in due form; and it is ordered that Philip Parrott, Christian Shaw, David Stollan & Nathl Britton or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of said Palmer deceased and make report to the Court

Settlement of the estate accounts of Gray Layton & Mary Roads was returned and examined by the Court and ordered to be Received

Settlement of the accounts of Peter Zilly as Guardian of John Hottelings was returned & examined by the Court and ordered to be Received

Cowan & Serrin vs on a Motion a Duty bond. Motion granted and Defts Call. Support & execution awarded

480 Mechal for Williams vs) & Starniburg vs . . . same

480 Mead for M Rice) & Mason vs . . . same

480 Mellis for Coffman Cooper) & Bean vs . . . same

480 Effry vs) & Burckholan vs . . . same

480 Rice vs) & Dunlap vs . . . same

Cornth v. Roath, plea not by Corant Sergeant
Coff for cost

On the Motion of the Children of Benjamin Berry and
for satisfactory evidence appearing to the Court, it is ordered to be
Certified to the Permia agency at Richmond, that Benjamin Berry,
late of Rockingham County, who was a Revolutionary Permia of
the United States, died on the 14 of December 1874, leaving no
widow, and the following his only children, viz. Henry Berry,
John S. Berry, George Berry, David Berry, Ellen Swartz wife
of David Swartz and Rhada Fuls wife of John Fuls who
are all of Lawful age.

Effinger v. Harris & on the Motion of the Plaintiff
by his attorney, it is ordered that he have leave to withdraw
from the paper the Note on which this suit was brought
on his filing an attested copy thereof

On the several motions of William W. Mason, Anthony
Stuffman, Benjamin Vanpel, & James Huff ^{Proprietors of Springs} ^{for license} and
and they having paid to the sheriff the sum required by Law
it is ordered that license be granted the said applicants
to keep or arrange in this County until the May Court
1834. on their entering into bond with securities in the
Clerks office as the Law directs, the Court being of the
opinion that the said applicants are men of honest
good character, not addicted to drunkenness or gambling
and that they will keep orderly and useful hours
of entertainments. —

See the report
of the
Court 1835. &
file in the papers
of that Court.

Isaac Thomas Cochran Commissioner appointed to receive and
lay of the Requirements of Militia in this County
agreeable to the act of assembly made a report which was
pleas in the papers and ordered to be Recorded

Cornth v. Coffman the Debt for further plea in the
behalf of the Plaintiff generally to the defendants in which
Declaratory the attorney for the Cornth found & returned

Conth v A. Lincoln Contd.

same v Gocherrow Contd.

same v Lincoln St. G. & Spence Contd.

same v Foley St. G. & Spence Contd.

A Writing purporting to the last will and Testament of Jacob Neely deceased was again presented in Court and on the Motion of Daniel Steele the executor named in the said Will who entered into bond with the penalty of \$2000. and read oath there to as the law directs. the Will requiring no security to be given by the said executor. and it is ordered that Michael Hopkins Daniel Steele, Jacob Lincoln & Peter Good, or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Neely and make report to the Court.

Steele v W. M. Adams Contd. for all are

Conth v Gocherrow. St. G. & Spence and the Defendants file a General Demurrer to the indictment in which demurrer the attorney for the Court joins and the Cause is Contd.

Young v Poshong v Pefu Contd. by Court

Pickering v Roberts Contd. by Court

Crawford v Shue . . . Contd. by Court

Moyes v Mury Contd. for the Plaintiff

Settlement of the estate accounts of Abraham Deal deceased. was returned & examined by the Court & ordered to be Recd.

On the several Motions of William Kite, Sarah Miller Daniel Lincoln, John Zegler

and they having paid to the Sheriff the tax imposed by Law it is ordered that Licenses be granted them respectively, to keep Private entertainments, in this County until the May Court 1837.

High or Sherwin disupt apud

Amos v Seegras (2 suits) Continued by Court

Scott for use C. Dorman v Rogers or Continua for Plft. (cont)

Poyer v W. M. Mear Continua for Deft (cont)

On the Motion of Michael St. Harris, William Fisher & John Rollin the commissioners appointed by an act of the General Assembly of Virginia to contract with proper persons for the purpose of drawing a Lottery ^{or lottery} and with the proceeds thereof to build a bridge across the North River, near Grattans ford in the County of Rockingham and who by Virtue of the said act of assembly and the authority thereby vested in them, did contract with a certain Hugh Bruffy and Jacob Paul to draw divers schemes of said Lottery on the terms agreed upon and ^{as} some doubts may arise between the said Commissioners and the said Bruffy and Paul as the amount the said Contractors Bruffy and Paul were liable for, and the matter being suggested in a special manner to this Court, that the said Bruffy is willing to pay & secure to the said Commissioners \$800 for the purpose of building said Bridge in full of all liability against the said Bruffy and Paul by Virtue of their Contract; this Court doth advise and recommend to the said Commissioners to accept of the said offer of the said \$800 on the terms proposed by the said Bruffy

King adm v W. M. Mear Continua for the Defendants (cont)

Graham v Meller Cont for Plft

Harris adm v Holtroth Continua for Deft

Bears adm (for S. Tuttle) v M. Bears Continua for Plaintiff (cont)

Bowyer adm (for A. H.) v Looker Continua for Deft (cont)

Beggaton & Horn continue for Defendant

Stephenson & Poole & Smith continue for the Plaintiff

Blaith & Gilman continue for Defendant

Pennypacker & Looke continue by court

Argubright adm & Logan Jr continue for Deft (cont)

Arthur for P & Staller for a w & Tugnut confid for Deft
in Deba Menden with intent to cheat (same equity)

Goetsch adm & Duff continue for Defendant (cont)

Perren adm & Stamps Jry sworn to by the jury to wit

Gabriel Woods, William Carnon, Sherr Gocherow Geo.

Campbell, Philip Miller, William Royer Jacob P.

Slaper, Daniel Smith, Henry Staley, Thomas Anderson (Verdy)

Landerman & Thomas Logan Jr. Verdict for the Plt for

\$990 the Debt in the declaration Menden with intent from

11th Janry 1829 till paid Subject to a Credit of \$150 paid

15 Nov 1830 & \$75 paid 1st Janry 1833 and \$124.80 cent paid

10th Janry 1830. and Tugnut accordingly

Print Anderson M off to

Rutherford adm & Stone P continue

Harper & Mansfield, office Tugnut set aside for want

pleas. had replication & issue and continue

Williams & Gocherow same

Kyle & Beard P same

Older & Miller adm same

Custer adm & Curlew same

Bourman adm & Setis P same

Ball for P & Aldapher same

Crage for P & Sullivan P same

Mont & Fisher same

Stapp & Pirky same

Jordan & Wright Partners for the Plffs

said & Marshman . . . said

On the Motion of Jacob & John Rusk admrs of Henry Perre

and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed

a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate

accounts of ^{sa} Perre decd and make report to the Court

Rico & Booz By Court, the order of ^{heretofore made} reference, in this sub
is set aside, and the cause is continued

Shaw for P's Realization Continued by Court

Gaily for P's (Graham) vs Glaawell & Co. ~~Continued~~

Gambill for P's Robinson By Court, of the parties by their
allowance all matters in difference between them in this sub
is referred to the award and final determination of Allen
C. Bryan & John Kerrigan esq whose award is to be made
the judgment of the Court

Stoops & Lanesco admrs Partners for the Defendant

On the Motion of Daniel Smith admr of Christian

Lanesco and, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be

appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle

the estate accounts of the said Lanesco and make report

to the Court, and by Court of the parties the said Commr.

is authorized to examine into the former settlements

made, and to correct any errors that may be found

therein.

Wendell for P's Woods Continued by Court

Wright & Mallebarge . . . said

Robinson & Vesp . . . said

Gaily for P's (Graham) vs Glaawell & Co. M. & Co set aside conditions perform
and filed. Generally replection & filed and continued

Graham & Roges plea w^o I suggest confess for the debt in the declaration Menden with interest & costs (saving equity) for reasons appearing to the Court. It is ordered that the sheriff hire out, John Holman, John Macky & William Hays five Negroes for such term of time, as will be sufficient to pay ~~them~~ ^{the} ~~interest~~ ^{the} term, due by them for the year 1835. in the manner and upon the terms directed by law

for G. Moor) Jacob Christian, & Jonathan Christian, the Defendants for further plea in the behalf ^{pleads a special plea} which is here filed in writing to which plea the Plffs attorney reply is generally offered is thereupon joined. and thereupon came a jury to emit. As to said Brock, Frederick Murray, George Shep, Israel Menden for Mrs Wampet, Joseph Shep, Solomon Perley, Jeremiah Caldwell, Samuel Sterling, Maria Barton Bartram, Abraham Shep & ^{Michael} Hooper Verdict for the Plaintiff \$35. for the debt in the declaration & interest, with interest from the 18 May 1831 till paid. I suggest accordingly, Motion for New Trial made by the Defendants attorney ~~overruled~~

Harris & Brock by consent continue for Defendants
On the Motion of Solomon Perley, and he having paid to Davis N. Weston ^{Deputy Sheriff} the tax imposed by law, it is ordered that a license be granted him to keep a house of private entertainment until the May Court 1834.

Sprinkle & Parley P. By consent continue for Defts

Mellen & Perce continue by Consent

Young & Bateman continue

Rice & Darrow 2 subs continued

Parson (for Duggell) & N. Roges continue

Kearney & Boog. disimp^r aged

Reid & Maden plea was of Suspect comp't for the Debt in the declaration mentioned with interest & costs saved & entry

Smith vs & Keravens same

same vs Festus same

same vs Mills same

Peterson for vs Ferry same

Reid vs Smith same

Clayton for vs W. Mahan same

Robinson vs Robinson exec. continue

Kieffer vs Miller adm't continue

Verdict

Smith, James Taylor, Peter Grubb, Isaac Bolton, Isaac McCauland, Joseph Small, George Long, John Delitto, Christian Doremus & ~~Amos~~ Augustus Pate, Verdict for the Plff. ^{to be saved of the goods} on the plea of payment, and on the plea of fully administered for the Debt & Suspect for their costs, according to law

Case of Keravens vs ~~Robinson~~ ^{Peterson adm't} Verdict for the Plff. for \$29 with interest from 29 July 1831. ^{to be saved of the goods} till paid on plea of payment, & ^{to be saved of the goods} and on the plea of fully administered for the Debt and Suspect according to law

Royer vs Peterson adm't. the same jury as in the case of

Miller vs Peterson adm't. Verdict for the Plaintiff on the plea of Payment for \$24.24 cts with interest ^{to be saved of the goods} there at 6 per cent from 28 April 1835. till paid, and for the Debt on the

plea of fully administered, and Judgment according to Law.

C Jameson vs Stealy, plea was of Judgment confessed for the Debt in the declaration mentioned, with interest & costs saving equity

C Settlement of the estate accounts of Michael Folair deceased, was returned, examined and ordered to be Rendered

C Pater v. Morrison, Jury sworn to try the issue to wit, Jonathan Christian, John Merrett, Parcell Smith, James Taylor, Peter Grubb, Isaac Botter, Susan McLellan, Joseph Small, Geo. Long, John Petrick, Joseph Ballkinn & Feilding Roalston Verdict for the Plff for \$25 damages with interest from the 18 day of May 1836 till paid & Judgment.

The poll taken for the election of Trustees for the town of Harrisonburg for the year 1836 was returned by the sheriff by which it appears that Abraham Smith, David S. Jones Samuel Shacklet, Isaac S. Perrybaker, Solomon M. S. Hunter were duly elected, which is ordered to enter of Record.

C On the Motion of James Towley and he having paid to R. N. Westover, ^{Deputy sheriff} \$5. the tax imposed by Law, it is ordered that a Rescission be granted him to keep a house of private entertainment until the May Court 1836

Ordered that the Court be adjourned until the 2^d Monday in June next
Peacock Harrison

* Report of the Commissioners appointed to lay off the Regiments as follows: - Pursuant to an act of the General assembly entitled an act to equalize the Regimental districts in the County of Rockingham and for other purposes, passed 17th March 1826.
We Isaac Thomas, James Clarke, John Rader, John

" Rush, Daniel Lincoln, Joseph Bellhimer and Richard P.
 " Fletcher, seven of the Commissioners appointed by said
 " act, met in Harrisburg at the office of Richard P.
 " Fletcher, on the 16th day of May 1836. to perform the duties
 " required of us by said act. And do find, determine, and
 " establish the Meets and bounds of each of the Regiments
 " in said County as follows, (to wit) The boundary of the
 " 58th Regiment to be, the County line of Page & Rockingham
 " Counties, commencing at the top of the Peaker Mountain,
 " the Orange & Rockingham County line, the Albemarle
 " and Rockingham County line, the Augusta & Rockingham
 " County line, as far as the Warm Spring & Harrisburg
 " Turnpike Road, and with that road, towards Harrisburg
 " until it intersects the old line, of the late 116th and 58th
 " Regiments, including the town of Bridgewater & Dayton
 " and with said old line, to where it strikes the ~~top~~
 " of the Peaker Mountain, and with the top of the
 " Peaker Mountain to the Beginning, the Boundary of the
 " 145 Regiment to be as follows, Commencing at the top
 " of the ^{Peaker} Mountain commonly call'd Lairds, Peaker or Knob.
 " from thence to James Lairds house, attaching Lairds farm
 " to the upper or 145 Regiment, from Lairds house a straight
 " line to Dorseys, who also is attached to the 145 Regiment,
 " from thence to Adam Andins who is attached to the
 " 145 Regiment, from thence to Mellians Beland, his farm
 " attached to the lower, or 116 Regiment, from thence to John
 " Christmans Mill, thence following the Mill road to
 " Jacob ~~Tracy~~ Showatters, attaching, Jacob Showatters to the
 " 116th Regiment, from said Showatters a straight line
 " passing Jacob Tracy, to the top of the Mountain

"up the said Mountain to where the Waters divide between Dry
 "River and Rocks Gap, from thence a new West Course to the
 "Pendleton Line, and with the same, deviating Pendleton, Augusta
 "and Rockingham Counties to the Warm Spring of Harrisburg
 "then first Road, and with the said Road and old division line
 "between the old 116th & 58th Regiments, to the top of the Peaker
 "Mountain & with said Mountain to the said Larks Peak or
 "Knob. — The Boundaries of the 116th Regiment to be all of the
 "County of Rockingham North of North line of the 115th Regiment
 "Not included in the said 58th & 115th Regiments, all of which
 "is respectfully submitted

Isaac Thomas
 John Rusk

Davis Lee also
 John Rader
 Richard P. Fletcher
 James Clarke
 Joseph Bellhimer

The foregoing report was returned to
 May Court 1836. and stands to be
 Enacted of Record

Teste

St. J. Cambill

- found* Address A. H. Coyner to Thomas M. Hoto for Sarah
- not found* Address F. Davis to D. H. Gambell in trust for Harriet Davis Ditto
- do Address Jasper Hoover to Jonathan Lamb Ditto
- do Address R. Peckering to E. H. Smith in trust for D. Peckering Ditto
- do Address David Peckering to Daniel Peckering Ditto
- do Address John Nealwood to David Nealwood for Sarah
- do Address A. M. Shuster Comp. to William McCausland Ditto
- found* Address John Marty to George Marty Ditto
- not found* Address Robert G. Altam Jr to John Rolley Ditto
- do Address William Bradshaw to Peter Gler Ditto
- do Address John Fisher & others to Sarah Fisher Ditto
- do Address John Farley & others to Elias Sutherland Ditto
- do Address Tobias N. Bolinger to Philip Rymer Ditto
- do Address Sarah Klein to Abraham Knopp Ditto
- do Address Nicholas Perce P to Adam Sory Ditto
- do Address William Nesler to Elizabeth Nesler Ditto
- do Power of attorney Christian Perce to Charles Perce to Emory Laws
- do Address Harry Perce his to John F. Mayo P for Sarah
- do Address D. Peckering to John Lowman Ditto
- do Address Joseph Lavens Sheff to John Harrison Ditto
- do Address Sarah Lacey to William Keister Ditto
- found* Address John Paulsen P to John Christman Ditto
- not found* Address Adam Shep to Sarah Ditto
- found* Address John Christman to David Hollar Ditto
- not found* Address David Hollar to D. H. Gambell in trust for John Christman Ditto

~~Ordered that Present No 1. be Rejected by the said Superior of the said County of Loudon, on the 10th day of August 1837.~~

C On the 11th of October 1837, and he having paid to Jacob D. all the said Deputy Sheriff \$3.50 it is ordered that a Decree be granted him to keep private and silent in this County until May Court 1837

Copied & sent to the Court the 8th August 1837 P. G. M. C.

By J. H. Harris on the 3rd of the month of November, returned their report of the examination of Peter Soto, certifying that he is a man of unsound mind, and that they had directed him to be removed to the Asylum at Staunton

but as that plan was full, she had compelled him to the aid of this Court
that to remain until he was or discharged what report is hereby offered &
copy of said report order to be certified to the Auditor, & as that no plan was
approved a commission for him

C On the Motion of Jacobus Gilman and he having paid
to Mr. Graves Deputy Sheriff \$17.25 cents. the law imposed by
law. it is ordered that a Security be granted him to keep
an inn in this County until May Court 1837 on his
entering into bond with security in the Clerk's Office in the
law docket, the Court being of the opinion that the said
Gilman is a man of good Character, not addicted to
drunkenness or Gambling, and that he will keep an
orderly and useful house of entertainment

C The appraisal bill and sale bill of the estate of
Joseph Depp a decedent were returned and examined and
ordered to be Recorded

See bond filed in the original
properly approved by the Court
and the Court

C On the Motion of David Bourman a Security for John
Rear Jr. as Committed for David Warren a person of
unsound mind; it is ordered that the said John Rear
be summoned to appear here at the next Court to give him
Credentia Security; whereupon the said John Rear appeared in
Court, and acknowledged a Notice of this ^{Motion} and with
Joseph Krohn & Abraham Peery gave the Security on
required by the above Order, which bond was duly acknow-
ledged by the parties thereto & ordered to be Recorded. -

C On the Motion of Samuel Booth, and he having paid
J. A. Mitchell Deputy Sheriff \$27.5 cents, it is ordered that
a Security be granted him to keep a lawful entertainment in
this County until May Court 1837.

C A bill of the accounts of Jacob Nichols and as
Guardian of Elizabeth Perce's Estate, were returned examined
and ordered to be Recorded

On the Motion of George Mephist, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$300. and made oath that as the law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of administration on the estate of Wilson Mephist dec'd in due form; and it is ordered that Jesse Mallow, Starry Mallow, William Eving & John S. Berry or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Wilson Mephist and make report to the Court.

Selas Lary & Ruth Ellen Lary ^{children} ~~children~~ of Abraham ^{deceased} ~~deceased~~
 Abner Lary ^{14 years of age} ~~deceased~~, Nov 14: year of age, came into Court and made show of ^{William} ~~James~~ Keister as their Guardian who entered into bond with security as the law directs.

On the several Motions of Catharine Graham & James Powell and they having paid to D. N. Weston Deputy Sheriff the tax imposed by law, it is ordered that license be granted them to keep houses of public entertainment in this County, until May Court 1834.

Ordered that John Denton be appointed Guardian of Emma Lary, a child of Abner Lary and Sally his wife Sally Denton & Grand Child of Joseph Denton deceased, under 14 years of age, who thereupon entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$150 as the law directs.

Abella Deering of 18 years of age ^{deceased} ~~deceased~~ ^{deceased} ~~deceased~~
 14 years of age came into Court and made show of Margaret Deering as her Guardian, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$50 as the law directs.

A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Benjamin Feshbach dec'd was again presented in Court. & whereupon William New the executor named in the said will appears in Court, and he requested his right to act as such, whereupon the Motion Sarah Feshbach, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$6,000

and in a due oath thereto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted here for obtaining letters of administration on the estate of said Benjamin Feshbach and in due form with the said last will annexed, and it is ordered that Martin Speck, Westly Newham, & Aaron Rogers being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Benjamin Feshbach and make report to the Court

It is also that the owner of the poor blind Jackson x Weatherholls a poor child of — Ruddy Weatherholls and about 2 years old the 4 day of April last to Peter Sheets to learn the farming business as the Law directs, who is to have for freedom due \$20

On the Motion of Robert Bogly who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$1000. and in a due oath thereto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted here ~~on the estate of John Steates dec'd~~ ^{on the estate of John Steates dec'd} in due form (with the last will and Testament of said John Steates and ~~annexed~~ ^{annexed} form thereto annexed) and it is ordered that Sherry Shoemaker, Michael Duffman, Michael Miller & Jacob Bowers or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of said John Steates dec'd and make report to the Court

x Where as Jacob Spetzin, has heretofore been committed to the Jail of this County of Rockingham, as a delinquent and it being now proven, that his mind has been restored so far as to renew it proper, that he should no longer be confined — The Court doth therefore order and direct that the Jailor of said County do permit the said Spetzin for the present to leave the Jail and go at large, until the

Further order of this Court

C A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Joseph Thornton deceased was presented in Court, and was proved by the oaths of Joseph Latham & Peter Smith two of the Witnesses thereto & ordered to be Received, and on the Motion of John F. Effinger one of the executors named in the said will who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$3000 and made oath thereto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate thereof in due form, (the will requiring no security to be given by the said executors named in the said will appears in Court, and relinquishes his right to act), and it is ordered that George W. Pifer, Peter Smith, Jacob Rhoe, and Sarnail Stetson, or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Joseph Thornton and make report to the Court

C An appraisement bill and sale bill of the estate of Abraham Moyer deceased, were returned into Court, examined & ordered to be Received

C A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Margaret Smith deceased was presented in Court, and was proved by the oaths of William Theobald & Jacob Miller two Witnesses thereto, ~~and ordered to be Received~~ ^{it ordered to be Received}, and on the Motion of Abraham Smith the executor named in the said will who entered into bond in the penalty of six thousand dollars, and made oath thereto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate thereof in due form, (the will requiring no security to be given by the said executor) and it is ordered that James Anderson, Eugene Anderson, John Neizer & William Neizer or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Margaret Smith and make report to the Court

C A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Sarnail McWilliams deceased was presented in Court and was proved by the Witnesses thereto, and ordered to be

Ordered, and on the Motion of Abner M^r Williams
the executor named in the said Will, who entered into
bond with security in the penalty of \$600 and made
oath thereto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted him
for obtaining a probate thereof in due form, and it is
ordered that Abraham Brassman, George Evers, Conrad
Roachaffer and Anthony Burkholder or any 2 of them
being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said ~~Starnate~~
and make report thereof to the Court

Abstracts

On the Motion of Conrad Curtis, it is ordered that Joseph
Kerason Sheriff, take into his hands and possession the estate
of Elizabeth Rudy, ^{deceased} and administer the same according
to Law.

A Writing purporting to be the last Will and Testament
of Catharine Shank deceased, was presented in Court
and was proved by the oaths of Isaac Sellers and Elijah
Clark two Witnesses thereto. & ordered to be Recorded.
and on the Motion of John Shank and John Showalter
the executor named in the said Will, who entered into
bond with security in the penalty of \$125. and made
oath thereto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted
them for obtaining a probate thereof in due form, and
it is ordered that Daniel Smith, Henry Early, Elijah
Clark ~~and any other persons~~ being first sworn do appraise
the estate of the said C. Shank and make report to the
Court

Ordered that Jacob Baker be appointed Surveyor of
precinct N^o 1, ^{on Rockwell Gap road} in the town of George Saffley precinct

24
 CPT
 24
 x
 Orders that Jacob Simons be appointed Surveyor of present No 2 on Cooks Creek road in the room of George Campbell resigns

CPT
 24
 x
 Orders that Peter Boyer be appointed Surveyor of present No 2 on Perkey Mill road, in the room of Christian Arguthy resigns

CPT
 24
 x
 Orders that John Brown be appointed Surveyor of present No 1. on what is call Brown road, in the room of George Smith. resigns

CPT
 24
 x
 Orders that John Carpenter be appointed Surveyor of present No 9. on the Kezels town road in the room of Joseph Mcclapher resigns

Orders of the poor is Sarah Sager. dismissed at the Defendants Cost & Disburse accordingly

Brook & Allen. on an attached. Books & Contents under the next term

x
 Orders that Isaac Wardish & Edward St. Smith be appointed as Commissioners to examine into the conduct of Peter Selts a delinquent. now confined in the Jail of this County; and that they faithfully make report thereof to the Court.

C
 On the Motion of Jesse Roalston & John St. Roalston executors of Jesse Harrison decedent, it is ordered that Richard P. Stetson be appointed a Commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Jesse Harrison decedent and make report thereof to the Court.

C
 On the Motion of John Nicholas executor of Tyro R. Brown ~~decedent~~ who was the executor of John Perkey decedent, it is ordered that Joseph Maury be appointed a Commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of the said John Perkey decedent, with the said John Nicholas as executor of said. and make report thereof to the Court.

On the Motion of James W. West and for reasons appearing to the Court, it is ordered that Peter P. Keating, be and he is hereby appointed a commissioner, to assess to the said James W. West, who is Surveyor of Precinct No. 1, on the road call the Keating Road, such and so many feetable as he shall think necessary to work on the said precinct, which is feetable are to be taken from the several precincts, (of other roads) adjoining and convergent thereto, ~~and~~ ~~and~~ taking care to make such allotments, as shall be most ^{convenient} ~~convenient~~ to the several parties ~~concerned~~ who have to work ~~in~~ the said roads and make report to the Court

William M. Atwood, or son of Peter M. Atwood 17. ~~Atwood~~ M. Atwood now 14 years of age came into Court, and made choice of William M. Devis as his Guardian, who entered into bond with security as the Law directs

It is ordered that the Court be adjourned until to morrow morning at 11 o'clock.

David Newton

Tuesday the 21 June 1836

Precinct

David Newton, Jacob D. Williams, John H. Campbell & Reuben Moore, Isaac Thomas: E. G. J. J. J. Augustus Waterman

Merry H. Gambell agent for the County, produces in Court an account of his agency for ~~the~~ two last years, showing a balance due the County of \$30.56 cents, which account was examined and allowed by the Court and ordered to be filed among the the Records, and it is further ordered that the said Gambell be continued in the office of agent

for the County until from the further order of the Court.
upon the terms and conditions as heretofore.

Ordered by the Court, that the ~~case~~ ^{care} of the Court house be
committed to the Magistrates of the County residing in the
town of Harrisonburg, and shall not be opened without the
express consent of a Majority of them, except for the purposes
provided by law

Ordered that Tyree Maupew be appointed a constable
in the South River District, ^{until July Court 1837} upon his giving bond in the
security, and taking the several oaths of office as the law
directs

^{copy to do} Ordered that James May be appointed Surveyor of Precinct
No 1 on the New Road from Friends Doro to C. Caplinger in
the Room of said C. Caplinger Deceased

Present.

Stephen Harrisonberger, Jacob Harrisonberger, Jacob Rush
Richard P. Fletcher, George W. Kempfer, Anderson Moffatt.
Jonathan Peal, Michael W. Harris, Robert Grattan Jr. (being
a ~~majority~~ ^{majority} now present a Majority of all the acting magistrates
in the County.

^{copy} On the Motion of Daniel Flook adm of Jacob Hays and it
is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner
to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Hays
and make report to the Court

^{copy} On the Motion of Moses Stenton adm of Mary Stenton
Deceased, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed
a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts
of said Moses Stenton and make report to the Court

Ordered that the sum of \$1000. be levied in the present
levy for the completion of the New Road over to the top
of the South Mountains, to be paid, to, ~~the~~ ^{the} expenses
incurred the direction of the Commissioner appointed to
superintend the opening the said road, and it is further ordered
William B. Garsney & Jacob Kessler, be appointed Commissioners
of said road, to act with those heretofore appointed.

John Christmas

On the several Motions of Roadham Kempster, Isaac
 Hardsly, Philip Perky, W. G. Abey & Graves, W. Perrybaker
 the Samuel Shepley, W. W. and G. Thompson ^{Thompson} ^{Thompson} ^{Thompson}
 it is ordered that Licenses be granted them respectively
 to retail ardent spirits at ~~their~~ their respective stores, the
 Court being of the opinion that the places where they reside
 are proper and fit places for the retail of ardent spirits

Ordered that Samuel H. Lewis, Robert G. Galtan Jr and
 Isaac S. Perrybaker be and they hereby, are appointed
 commissioners, to examine and report to the Court now in
 session the ~~proposed~~ ~~most~~ ~~convenient~~ ~~and~~ ~~proper~~ ~~the~~ ~~most~~
~~practicable~~ ~~practicability~~ of enclosing the Court
 house with such yard thereto, as they shall think fit
 and convenient

Isaac Hardsly, & Edward H. Smith who were on yester-
 day appointed commissioners to examine into the situation
 of Peter Sells detained now confined in the Jail of this
 County made their Report stating that in their opinion that
 he does require, clothing, support, and attendance, whereupon
 it is ordered that Peter Sells Sailor of this County, furnish
 the said Sells with necessary clothing, support and atten-
 dance, provided that the said expenses of clothing & support
 do not exceed the sum of \$20. per Year, and that the
 expenses for attendance is not to exceed the sum of 25 cents
 per day, which is ordered to be Certified

Jacob A. Melbell & David N. Weston Deputies for Joseph
 Leavenworth Sheriff returned List of Delinquents and insolvents
 in the County Levy for the Year 1835. which lists were
 examined and allowed by the Court, & ordered to be Certified

A Certificate of the qualification of W. Mesh as an overseer of
 the poor of this County was returned, and ordered to be entered
 of Record

Copy sent
 to ~~assistants~~
 by record

filed at
 my cost

On the several petitions of Jacob Ritchy, Messers Harwood and Thomas Haree, and for reasons appearing to the Court it is ordered that they be exempted from the payment of revenue town County & Parish taxes from the date hereof.

On the petition of Austin Byan a free man of colour, and for reasons appearing to the Court it is ordered that he be exempted from the payment of revenue town County & Parish taxes for his son Strother from the date hereof.

Jacob Rusk, Joseph Maury & John Gibbons Commissioners appointed to superintend the opening the road ~~up~~ to the ^{top} the south mountains, made a report, which was examined and confirmed by the Court, and ordered to be entered of Record.

The Court proceed to audit the County Levy for the year 1826. a statement whereof is as follows, which year commences at Decem^r Court 1825.

To Robert Gray attorney for the Commissioners for the current year		\$100.00
Mary J. Gambell Clerk	Delto	75.00
Peter Treach Jailor	Delto	50.00
same for keeping the Court for one year from date hereof		50.00
Joseph Leaven Sheriff	Delto	60.00
for compensation for work done on the public roads as per claim this day allowed		\$ 170.25
for compensation to Surveyors of Roads		96.50
for compensation to Patrolmen as per account		25.40
for compensation to Surveyors of Roads for indexes		27.50
for compensation for horse power furnished as per account		2.17
for compensation for timber for bridges		1.00
for repairs done to the Jail as per account		10.80
for so much appropriation to the Commissioners for opening the New Road to the top of the South Mountain		\$1000.00
for an allowance for Delinquents estimated at		250.00
for compensation for Sheriff's Commission <u>estimated</u>		124.35
		<u>\$2047.97</u>

amount brought over

\$2047.97

Supports County depositions

274.53

Actual amount of claims as ordered to Sheriff to be paid out of the Levy is \$1662.93 1/2.

\$2322.50

Ordered that the Sheriff collect from each taxable person in this County. (Not exempted by Law) 50 cents that being the County proportion for the year 1836. and out of the money arising from said collection and pay the aforesaid claims to the several persons entitled thereto, and the balance if any to Henry J. Gambell the agent of this County. at the time prescribed by Law.

The Court proceeds to consider the expediency of carrying into effect the Law passed 3rd March 1835. respecting the Public Roads in this Commonwealth, upon consideration whereof the Court refuses to carry the said Act into effect. which is ordered to be entered of Record.

On the Petition of Reuben Harrison and Jacob Bowman to alter a part of the Public Road leading from the Mountain Valley Road, to the Kezef-town Road, intersecting the same between the Westey and Chapel and Smiths Creek, the part as with your Honourable body to alter is from Mellers Mill Road commencing at the division line between John Lockers land and one of your Petitioners, Reuben Harrison, from that line to the Kezef town Road, the road at present runs through the land of your Petitioners and thereby cuts off some 50 acres of land which is entirely destitute of water and is so low to where it again intersects said ^{Kezef town} ~~Mellers~~ Road, as set forth in and also for a new road as set forth in said Petition from the beginning of the said Petition, it is ordered that Michael Sellers, Archibald Brock, Mark Perrybaker and Philip

and 26
of 25.

(C.P.)

^{said alterations, (as set forth in the Petition) as also the}
 styles or any 2 of them being first sworn do then, the said
 way so proposed for a road, ^{as set forth in said Petition} and in a Report thereof to the
 Court of the Commissioners and a recesses, alterations, ~~alterations~~
~~to the~~ ~~as well~~ the alterations, in the old road, as the proposed new
 New Road.

On the 21st day of June 1836. a Majority of the aforesaid Magistrates
 being present, On Motion it is ordered that Isaac and S. Lewis
 Robert Grattan Jr and Isaac S. Perry be appointed a
 Committee to examine the Court house square in the town of
 Harrisburg Rockingham County with a view of ascertaining
 the proper boundaries of an enclosed contemplated to be made
 around the Court house, Market house & Clerk's office in said
 square, and that the said Committee do report to the Court
 as soon as convenient upon the matters so referred to them as
 aforesaid, - and thereupon the said Committee took upon themselves
 the execution of the order aforesaid, and in a short time returns
 are submitted to the Court their report in the words and figures
 following to wit, The Committee & when said report being so
 made and returned, on consideration thereof it is ordered that
 the same be adopted, and that the enclosed of the said
 Court house, Market house, and Clerk's office, be made according
 to the boundaries in the said report mentioned, and thereupon
 and for the purpose of having the said enclosed made as
 aforesaid, the Court doth appoint five Commissioners to wit
 Isaac S. Perry, Isaac Sturdy, Richard P. Fletcher, David
 Newton & Augustus Waters ^{of Harrisburg} of the town, and County of
 Rockingham, whose duty it shall be to cause the said enclosed
 to be made as aforesaid, and sodded or seeded in grass and planted
 in trees, - in such manner a manner and upon such terms
 as the said Commissioners may think proper, having due
 regard to economy and cost, and the Court doth appropriate
 for the defraying of the expenses of making said improvements
 aforesaid the sum of \$320. in the hands of Henry G. Carville
 the agent & Treasurer of this County it being the amount

of the depositions which will be within the hands of the said Henry J. Cambell the Treasurer aforesaid, on or about the 1st of November next, and of the said sum of \$320 so appropriated as aforesaid, shall be insufficient to defray the said expenses the said Commissioners or a Majority of them are hereby authorized to borrow upon the credit of the county a sum of Money therefore not exceeding \$400. to be paid by the Court out of the county levy to be laid ~~by them~~ aforesaid by them, in this levy for the year 1837. To the making of the said order, the John Kelling and Solomon M. Wenton appears in Court and ~~entered~~ ^{objected} ~~his protest~~ for reasons set forth in a writ protest which is ordered to be read apart of the Record

The Court proceeds to clap the Magistrates in this County in stead of the Clap heretofore made, which Clap is to take effect from the date hereof and is as follows.

1st Clap for February.

Peahey Garrison, Jonathan Shipman, Richard P. Fletcher
Jacob Rush, Jonathan Deal & Isaac Thomas.

2nd Clap for May.

David Wenton, Jacob Q. Williams, John S. Campbell
Robert Gattaw Jr, Samuel Coats & Michael S. Harris

3rd Clap for August.

Samuel S. Lewis, Charles C. Spear, Jacob Starnberger,
Augustus Waterman, & Christian Horn,

4th Clap for ~~October~~ November

Stephen Starnberger, Anderson Moffett, Abraham Smith
George M. Kemper, Reuben Moor & Jacob Miller, where Claps so made is to remain until otherwise altered by order of the Court, and it is

further orders that the clerk cause the said Clasp. to be
 published in the Rockingham Register forthwith.

It is also ordered that the Court do adjourn until the third
 Monday in July next.

David Henton

At a Court held for the county of Rockingham for
 the trial & examination of Mathew
 Tate and Joshua Lobb, who was committed to the Jail of this
 County on suspicion of felony and stands charged with feloniously
 killing, slaying and carrying away an spare heap of the value of
 \$20. of the property of Carlos Sanger.

Present

Peachy Harrison, Richard P. Fletcher, Abraham
 Smith, Jacob Rish & Augustus Waterman... E. S. Justice.

The said Prisoner, was left to the bar in Custody of the Jailor
 of this County, and the Prisoner Mathew Tate having no Counsel,
 Isaac S. Perrybaker esq. was by the Court assigned as Counsel for him,
 and on the Motion of the said Prisoner, Tate by his Counsel, it is
 ordered that this prosecution be continued, until the next General
 Court to be held for this County, it appearing to the Court, that the
 said Mathew Tate is in a state of Mental derangement; and
 therefore he was removed to Jail, and the said Joshua Lobb
 being charged, with the felony aforesaid, pleads not Guilty, and
 Sunday Witnesses to wit, William Allen, Augustus Allen, Thomas
 Oats, Carlos Sanger, James Joseph, Abraham Joseph, William
 Roberts & John Roberts,

were sworn and examined touching the felony whereof the said
 Joshua Lobb stands charged, and the said Prisoner being fully heard
 in his defence by his Counsel, the Court, upon consideration, having
 maturely considered the same, are of the Opinion that the said
 Prisoner is guilty of the felony whereof he stands charged.

and for the same is tryable in the Circuit Superior Court of Law for this County, and it is ordered that he be remanded to the Jail of the said Superior Court, and there to remain until discharged by due course of Law, Men: on the 28th day of June 1836. William Allen, Augustus Allen, Thomas Oaks, Carlos Sanger, James Joseph, Abraham Joseph, William Robinson & John Robinson. appears in Court and severally acknowledge themselves to owe and be indebted to his excellency Myrsham Robinson ex: Lieutenant Governor of the County of Mergered and his Successor in office in the sum of \$1000 each to the heirs of the said deceased goods and chattels and heriments and for the use of the County to be hereunto by upon the condition that the said William Allen Augustus Allen, Thomas Oaks Carlos Sanger, James Joseph Abraham Joseph William Robinson & John Robinson shall make their personal appearance before the Judge of the Circuit Superior Court of Law for this County on the first day of the next Term, then and there to give evidence against Joshua Cook charged with felony, and will not depart the said Court until discharged by Law, then the above Recog: to be void also to be remanded in full force.

Ordered that the Court be adjourned

Peasey Harrison

Urged to enter
 At a Court held for the County of Rockingham on
 Monday the 14th day of July 1836. being the Third Monday in July 1836.
 Present.

David Denton, Jacob Harris, Jacob Clark &
 Augustus Waterman. S. G. Justice

A list of conveyances and other writings admitted to Record in the
 Clerk's office of the County Court of Rockingham, from the 1st to
 the 30th of June 1836. both days included, was returned into Court
 by the Clerk thereof, and being examined by the Court, is ordered
 to be entered on the Records, and a like list to posted up
 at the door of the Court House of said County, and is as follows.

Given Ackd for land M. Clarke to A. Williams in trust for J. D. Williams

Ackd for land George H. Christman Corp to Jacob Goehers

Ackd for land W. Dunlap to Adam Rader

Ackd for land Adam Rader to William Dunlap.

Ackd for land John Christman to W. Daugherty

Ackd for land Thomas McCool to Abraham Kelley

Ackd for land John Rader to John Shaver

Ackd for property Jacob Mello to R. P. Fletcher in trust for Samuel Paul &

Ackd for land Adam Stalling to George Keiffer

X^{found} Pur for P. property Joseph Hodges to D. H. Gambell turn for A. Flora

^{not found} Pur for land Abram Garrison to Abram Garrison

^{found} Pur for land John Miller to Allen Dever

^{found} Pur for land Robert Hyattson Jr. to John Hyattson

^{found} Pur for land Robert Hyattson Jr. to same

^{found} Pur for land Solomon Pinsky to Pethiah B. Bashaw

^{not found} Pur for land M. Perren was to Michael Shular

do Pur for land D. Hyle Jr to Michael Shular

do Pur for land John Cowan to Garrick Pickering

^{found} Pur for land Robert Cogley to Christian Sowerman

^{found} Pur for land C. Sowerman to J. Clarke in trust for Robert Cogley

^{found} Pur for land Charles Perren to J. D. Williamson

^{found} Powers of attorney N. Perren to Jacob Smith to carry land

^{not found} Pur for land E. Fisher to John Mount

do Pur for land John Ferris to Philip Sanderwood

do Pur for land Edward New to William Robinson

do Pur for land John Miller to John Sinyardman

On the motion of Saml Bowman adm of Joseph Rife
 C decessd, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed
 a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate account
 # of said Rife, and make report thereof to the court

On the motion of Saml Bowman exor of John Brillehart
 C decessd, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed
 a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate
 accounts of said Brillehart and make report thereof to
 the court

On the motion of Samuel Deakle and he having paid
 to D. N. Weston Deputy Sheriff \$3.75 cents, it is ordered
 that a decree be granted him to keep private entrance
 in this county until May Court 1837.

Richard P. Fletcher is allowed ⁵ days for 75 days, Comm. in fine new
 for 1836. which is ordered to be Certified

Settlement of the estate accounts of Philip Royer decd. was
 returned & examined & ordered to be Recorded.

Settlement of the estate accounts of Michael Rerchert decd.
 was returned into court. examined & ordered to be Recorded.

On the Motion of Samuel Blair exor of Abraham Whetson
 decd., it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commis-
 sioner to examine said estate and settle the estate accounts of said Whetson
 and make report to the Court

By the Court. Typie Maupin, who was at the last Court, appointed a constable
 in & for the South River district in this County. appears in Court &
 with security entered into bond with sureties in the penalty of
 \$2000, which and took the several oaths of office as the Law directs.
 which bond being acknowledged by the parties thereto, is ordered to be
 Recorded, the Court being of the opinion that the said Typie
 Maupin is a man of ~~good~~ honesty, probity and good character
 which is ordered to be Certified

On the Motion of John Christman exor of Henry Speer decd. it
 is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to
 examine said estate and settle the estate accounts of said Henry
 Speer and make report to the Court

Present

Dea. Henry Harrison.

An appointment bill and sale bill of the estate of Henry Speer
 decd. were returned & examined & ordered to be Recorded.

On the Motion of James Blair, John Neely, and Ellen
 Campbell an infant but by her guardian David Stule and
 by consent of the said parties, it is ordered that David Stule
 Mr. Michael Roalson, & William Ewing, be appointed, Commissioners
 whose duty it shall be and who are hereby ordered to go
 (any three of whom may act).

upon the lands devised by Thomas Campbell, by his last Will and Testament, to George Campbell his legitimate child and to the said James Blair, and Selas Blair, and devised the said land having an eye to the quality and quantity, and the improvements thereon, in the following devisions and proportions, - to the said John Nicely, the one third and the one seventh of the one sixth, to said Ellen Campbell the same, as to John Nicely, and to the said James Blair, the balance of said lands and the Court doth hereby Certify that the parties present do assent to the said devisions, each releasing to the other such interest, as he, or she has in the portions so laid off, to the other and that each of the above parties, doth hereby Release to the other any claim for rent or taxes of the said land, and the said Commissioners, are required to report to this Court, at its next term, what they have done in the premises.

(P) James Clarke a Commissioner of the Revenue taxes of this County for 1836. is hereby allowed for 5 days service, which is ordered to be Certified to the Auditors of public accounts.

Matthew Tate, who stands convicted for felony, was again led to the bar in Custody of the Jailor, and being charged with the felony Pleaded Not Guilty, and thereupon Sunday withrefus, to wit, William Allen, Augustus Allen, Thomas Oaks, Carlos Sarger, James Joseph, & Abraham Joseph, Reuben Robinson and John Robinson, were sworn and examined, and the prisoner being fully heard in his defence, by his Counsel, the Court upon consideration thereof are of the opinion that the said prisoner is guilty of the felony whereof he stands charged, and for the same is tryable in the Circuit Superior Court of Law & Chancery holden for this County, and it is ordered that the prisoner be removed to jail and there to remain until discharged by any Court of Law.

Be it remembered that on the 18. day of July 1836. that William Allen, Augustus Allen Leonard Sargeant James Joseph Abraham Joseph William Robertson & John Robinson, personally appeared in court and acknowledged themselves to owe and be indebted to his excellency Wm. Dawson Robinson ex. Acting Governor of Maryland and his successors in office in the sum of \$100 each to be buyers of the respective goods of Charles Sarras and tenants and for the use of the Com. to be returned, upon the condition that if the said William Allen A. Allen Leonard Sargeant, James Joseph, A. Joseph, W. Robertson & John Robinson, shall make their personal appearance on the first day of the next Superior Court of Law and Chancery to be held for this County, which will be on the 8th day of October next then and there to give evidence in behalf of the Com. against Matthew Tate, charged with felony, and not depart the said County until discharged by Law. then this recogny to be void. else remain in full force.

Com. with a Jas. Eriew, on a recogny for breach of the peace on the Complaint of Elizabeth Merrieth, the said Defendant appeared in Court in discharge of his recogny, and the Court having heard the evidence, and argument of Counsel, it is considered by the Court that he be bound to ^{keep the peace & be of} ~~his~~ good behavior towards all the good Citizens of this County ^{for twelve months} ~~and~~ more particularly towards the said Elizabeth Merrieth, himself in the sum of \$50. and a good security in the sum of \$50. or two securities in the sum of \$25 each and that he stand committed until he enters into a recogny with security as aforesaid, and that ~~the~~ he moreover pay the costs of this prosecution.

Com. with a Jas. Eriew, on a recogny for breach of the peace on the Complaint of Nancy Butler, the said Defendant appeared in Court in discharge of his recogny, and the Court having heard the evidence and argument of Counsel, it is considered by the Court that the said Defendant be ^{acquitted and discharged, and} ~~bound to~~ ^{keep the peace and} ~~be of~~ good behavior towards all the good Citizens of this County ^{and} ~~and~~ that he moreover pay the costs of this prosecution.

~~for twelve months, and more particularly to ward the said
 Nancy Butler, her heirs in the sum of \$
 and my security in the sum of \$ or two Secured in the
 sum of \$ each, and that he stands committed until
 he enters into such personal recognizance with security as aforesaid, &
 more that he also pay the costs of this prosecution,~~

Be it Remembered that on the 18th of July 1836. James

Erwin with James Moore & John Roberson —

his securities personally appears in Court and severally acknowledge
 themselves to owe and be indebted to his excellency Wm. Graham
 Robertson acting Governor of Virginia and his successor in
 office in the sum of one Hundred Dollars. that is to say the
 said James Erwin in the sum of \$50. and the said James ^{Moore} Erwin
 and John Roberson in the sum of \$25 each to be levied of their
 respective Goods and Chattels Lands and Tenements and for the
 use of the Court to be rendered upon this condition that
 the said James Erwin shall keep the peace and be of good
 behavior towards all the good Citizens of this Commonwealth
 for the term of twelve months from the date hereof, and
 more particularly to ward Elizabeth Merritt, then the
 above obligation to be void else to remain in full force
 and Virtue

Proth is Alkerd upon an attached ~~condition~~ motion to quash
 or rule & cause continue until the next Court

Orders that the Court be adjourned until the 2^d
 Monday in August Next

Peachey Harrison

At a Court held for the County of Rockingham
at the Court house thereof on the 28th day of
July 1836 for the trial and examination of Moses
Hinton who was committed to the Jail of this
County on suspicion of felony and stands charged
with feloniously stealing and carrying away a free
person of Colour by the name of Aaron Fogle

Present

John H. Campbell Saml. H. Lewis Robert Grallow
Reuben Moore Jonathan Read } J. S. Justices

The Prisoner was led to the bar in Custody of
the Jailor, and being charged with the felony
for which he was committed pled Not Guilty,
and thereupon sundry witnesses to wit Reuben
Shuts Samuel H. Gensley Jesse Bumpass Jesse
Winn Archibald Burnsides & William W. Dewers
were sworn and examined and the said prisoner
being fully heard in his defence, the Court upon
due Consideration are of the opinion that he is
guilty of the felony whereof he stands charged
and for the same is triable in the Circuit
superior Court of Law & Chancery for the
County and thereupon he is remanded to the
Jail of the said Court there to remain until
discharged by Law, ~~and~~ ~~it~~ ~~is~~ ~~remembered~~ ~~that~~
on the 28th day of July 1836 Reuben
Shuts Samuel H. Gensley Jesse Bumpass and
Jesse Winn appeared in Court and severally
acknowledged themselves to owe and be ind
ebted to his excellency Burdham Robinson
acting Governor of Virginia and his successors
in office in the sum of \$100 each to be paid
of their respective goods and Chattles Lands
and Tenaments ~~and~~ ^{to} for the use of the Court.

To be Rinded upon this Condition that the
 said Reuben Shute Samuel St Jersy Jese
 & Bampass and Jese thum shall make their
~~ap~~ personal appearance on the 1st day
 of the Sept Superior Court of Law and
 Chancery to be held for this County which
 will be on the 8th day of October Sept then
 and then to give evidence against Moses
 Hinton Charged with felony then the
 above Recognance to be void else to remain
 in full force

ordered that the Court be adjourned

J. C. Campbell

Virginia to wit

At a court held for the County of Rockingham on the third Tuesday being the 15th of August 1836.

Present

David Hunter, Samuel Cook, Jacob Rust & E. G. Justice.
Reuben Moore

A list of conveyances, and other writings admitted to Record in the Clerk's office of the County Court of Rockingham from the first to the 31st of July 1836 enclosed, was returned into Court by the Clerk thereof, and being examined, is ordered to be entered on the Minutes, and also to be posted up at the door of the Court house of said County, and is as follows,

X Adms for P. property. John Step to John W. Sand in trust for A. W. Coyle

X Adms for same Paul Miller to David Steele in trust for Peter Berkle

X Adms for same John W. Kirby Jr to H. Armentrout in trust for Ems Kezels

X Adms for same Philip Radw to Wazlet Softaw in trust for S. Softaw

not found Adms for same James Clarke to John Cowan

found Adms for same Isaac Ball to G. B. Barkalder

not found Adms for same Henry Kysor to Adam Lamm

found Adms for same Isaac Miller to David M. Ginn

not found Adms for same William Nichols to Robert Gray

found Adms for same same P to Allen G. Bryan

not found Adms for same Henry Smith son to Francis Armentrout Jr

found Adms for same James Foley to Adam DeLotto

not found Adms for same same to P. A. Clark in trust for Adam DeLotto

ditto Adms for same David Ranken to Samuel Beer

found Adms for same Henry May to same

found Adms for same D. M. Ginn to D. W. Gambill in trust for Peter Good

found Adms for same Rachel Solomon to Susanna Smith

An appraisers bill, sales bill and inventory of the estate of

Robert Magill and was returned as said and to be Recorded

On the Motion of George Seacrest who on a du oath shews
C and with security, in the penalty of \$150, as the law
directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of
administration on the estate of Malcher Seacrest and in due form
and it is ordered that George Stersely, William Stely &

William Cyber, being first sworn as appraisers the estate
of said M. Seacrest and make report thereof to the Court

Abale bill of the estate of Barbara Peery and was taken
C exams orders to be Recorded
Print

South Lewis

On the Motion of Peter Stutzbouck and he having paid
C to D. N. Denton \$1.87 cents, it is ordered that adiection be
granted him to keep process entertained in this county
until May Court 1837

Abatement of the estate accounts John Steyer and was
C Returns, exams and orders to be Recorded

Henry Booz (foreman), John Stratwood, Daniel Good, Henry
Beery, Cyrus Roas, John Seely, Adam Allen, Isaac Fisher
Jacob Floras, David Lacey, John Cooper, John Selu Geo.
C Rader, William B. Smith, Joseph Trappell, David Blinn
Jonathan Fennel & John Williams, were sworn as grand jury
for this county, and who received their charge, and retired from
the bar to consider of their presentments and after some
time returned into Court and made the following Presentments
to wit: an indictment agt. C. Fennel, a true bill, an indictment agt.
Thomas Burck for an assault & battery, a true bill, an indictment agt. Thomas
Linnick for an assault & battery, a true bill, and an indictment agt. Joseph
Krobyer Jr. for not keeping present N^o 2. apart Woodstock back road in good
repair a true bill, and the said grand jury having no further
business before them they were discharged, and it is ordered that
summons do be awarded against the said Defendants to appear
the said Ind. Linnick returnable here at November Court
Next

On the Motion of William Parks admr of Michael Moyes decd
 it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner
 to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said ^{Moyes} ~~Michael~~ Parks
 and make report thereof to the court

Ordered that John Shetter be appointed by guardian for
 Elizabeth Shetter his daughter, who is also orphan daughter of
 Peter Sowerby decd, under 14 years of age, who entered into
 bond with security in the penalty of \$1500 as the law directs

Ordered that Matthew Snyder be appointed guardian for
 Jacob M. Freese or place of Jacob Freese, under 14 years of
 age, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$500
 as the law directs

Delivera Sooter orphan of John Sooter decd. now 14 years of
 age came into court and made choice of William
 + Peterrow as her guardian who entered into bond with security
 in the penalty of \$1000 as the law directs

Settlements of the estate accounts of John Perce & Polly
 Perce, were examined, by the court, and ordered to be

Received

An appraisment bill and sale bill of the estate of Benjamin
 Mellen decd, were returned examined & ordered to be paid

On the Motion of Jacob Park admr of Samuel Armentrout
 decd it is ordered that Joseph Manzey be appointed a commissioner
 to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said Armentrout
 and make report thereof to the court

On the Motion of Sarah H. Ferris exor of Charles Ferris decd
 it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to
 examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said Ferris &
 make report thereof to the court

On the Motion of Sarah H. Ferris exor of Margaret a Boyer
 decd it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commis-
 sioner to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said
 Boyer and make report to the court

Attesting & importing to the last will and Testament of Philip Armentrout deceased, was presented in Court and proved by the Witnesses thereto & ordered to be Recorded, whereupon Frederick Armentrout the executor named in the said will appears in Court, and he renounces his right to act as such, which is order to be entered of Record.

Hoffman & Berry, the Defendant was surrendered in Court by James Stone his Special Bail, and was not prayed in Custody which is entered of Record.

On the Motion of Elizabeth Brown, widow of the late Peter Brown deceased, who appears in Court, and made oath to a Declaration, in order to obtain the benefit of the act of Congress passed 4th day of July 1836. it is ordered to be certified to the Commissioners of pensions, that the Court are of the Opinion, after the investigation of the matter that the said Elizabeth Brown was married to the late Peter Brown, who was a Revolutionary Pensioner of the United States on the 10th of July 1798 and that she has remained a widow since the death of her husband, which took place on the 2nd day of May 1835.

A Settlement of the accounts of Daniel Myers, as Guardian of Sally Arlow, was returned examined and ordered to be Recorded.

Whereas that George Clark be appointed a School Commissioner for this County in the Room of George M. Puffer deceased.

Settlement of the estate accounts of Amos Ketchum and was returned examined & ordered to be Recorded.

Settlement of the estate accounts of John Moore deceased was returned, examined & ordered to be Recorded.

On the Motion of John Albright, and he having paid to D. N. Weston Deputy Sheriff \$1.87 cents, it is ordered that a license be granted him to keep private entertainments in

The County until May Court Next 1834

Settlements of the estate accounts of, James McWilliams, Daniel Pinkel, Christian Lomack, John Moody, Benjamin Gault, Isaac Roadcap and Henry Starbarger deced. were returned, examined and ordered to be Recorded

It is ordered that David Smith be appointed Surveyor of said N^o 9 on the swift run of app. road, in the name of Matthew Snyder Surveyor

For reasons appearing to the Court, it is ordered that Henry J. Gambel agent for the County, pay unto William Keesh two Dollars out of any moneys he has due the County, County.

On the Motion of George Hyger son of Frederick Hyger decd. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine into and settle the estate accounts of said Frederick Hyger decd. and make report to the Court

Quinn vs Tyler. The Defendant was detained in Court by James Curran his special bail, who thereupon confessed a judgment for the debt in the declaration mentioned with interest and costs, and it is ordered to be certified that the said Defendant was not kept in Custody.

Sam'l (for use of Brightwell) vs Fairburn, the Defendant was detained in Court by Jacob Sanger his special bail, who confessed a judgment for the debt in the Declaration mentioned with interest & costs, and was by the Pleffs attorney prayed in Custody

Comrith vs Coffey and. Discontinued by order of the atty for the (Creditor)

Same vs Kocher now same

Same vs Abraham Serecher (Surveyor of road) same

On the Motion of Robert Siskey, and he having paid to D. N. Stanton Deputy Sheriff \$1.87 1/2 cents, it is ordered that a license be granted him to keep private entertainments at his in this County until May Court 1834.

It is ordered that the Court be adjourned until tomorrow the 11th day at 10 o'clock.

David Henton

Tuesday the 16th August 1836

Present

Samuel H. Lewis, for est Warburton, Augustus Waterman & Charles C. Spear J. G. Justice

Warburton adms - S. Hollrook continues for Defendant. (out)

Hoops & Larrick adms Dismissed agreed.

An appraisment bill and sale bill of the estate of Samuel W. Williams adms were returned exms for ads to be made.

On the Motion of John Brown who owns the lands of both sides of Beaver Lake, and is desirous of building a dam across the said lake for the purpose of watering an Oil Mill, which he also proposes to build on his said land, it is ordered that a writ of ad quod Damnum be awarded him according to law to be directed to the sheriff, and to be returnable here at the next Court 2^d day of September next. Returnable here at the ^{next Court} ~~next Court~~.

Michael Sellars ^{who was appointed to view an alteration in a public road} & others, ^{made a report} ~~was appointed to view an alteration in a public road~~ ^{made a report} ~~where~~ ^{where} ~~the road~~, agreeably to the petition of Reuben Starbuck, ^{where} ~~where~~ it is ordered that Mary Courod & Christian Furdy be summoned to show cause why the said Road shall not be opened agreeably to the said report, it appearing that the same runs through the lands of the said Courod & which summons is to be returnable to September Court next.

Registers of Julian Cochran & Ann Hackley free Negroes were returned into Court by the Clerk, and being compared with the said Negroes, and found duly made, Copies thereof are ordered to be furnished them in the manner directed by law.

Stable & W. Mahan continues for ~~ads~~

Moyes & Murray continues for the Plaintiff

Crawford & Shaw continues

Peckering & Orant continues

made the judgment of the court, and by like consent it is ordered that said arbitrators, or their umpire may and shall proceed to the consideration and final determination of the cause upon either party having given to the other twenty days previous notice of the time and place of trial unless good cause be shown for a continuance

Bears as adm. for Geo S. Tutwiler & M. Bears. Jury sworn to try the issue to wit, Thomas Harris, George W. Peffer, Jacob Bay, Henry Kephling, William C. Smith, George Zimmerman, Benjamin Hoover, Peter Pericko, Peter Doyen, Robert Reid, John Rader & ^{James} ~~James~~ Looker, whereupon by court the jury was adjourned until to morrow at 10 o'clock

On the motion of Henry Miller, and his having paid D. H. Starbuck deputy sheriff to \$1.00 cents, it is ordered that a license be granted him to keep private interment in this County until May Court 1837

- Robert & Mellus adm. office against set aside payable legal replication of Geo & Carline
- Falley (for Geo Harper) & J. Looker P. same
- Koslow (for M. Haire) & D. Fisher same
- Woodwood & Ragen P. same
- Reckard & D. Fisher P. same
- Kayser & Kammay P. dismissed upon (costs)

both Custer adm. & Custer Refund ordered by order Peffer & Magist for Defendants costs, to be served of the goods & chattels of the affs interde to be administered

On the Motion of Charles Chandler, and he having paid to D. N. Weston Deputy Sheriff, \$1.87 1/2 cents, it is ordered that access be granted him to keep a house of private entertainment in this County, until May Court 1837.

C Royer vs McManis Controvers for Defendants oath

C Gambell for D. & Robertson. Controvers for award

C Sprinkle vs Parly. Controvers by Court

C Youth adm. vs Deff. Controvers for Deft oath

Mary Perce orphan of John Perce over 14 years of age came into court and made choice of George Price as her Guardian, and it is ordered that she can George Price be appointed Guardian for Elizabeth Perce & Inera Perce infants under 14 years of age and children of said John Perce. the said George Price having entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$1200 conditioned as the law requires.

C Graham vs Miller, Jury sworn to try the case to wit John S. Berry, Henry Westmore, William Earnor, Frederick Henry Joseph Steg. Henry Block, William Harper, Thomas Bogard, Simon M. Benscholder, Abner McWilliam, Addison Royer & John Dinkels, and having heard apart of the evidence were adjourned until to Morrow morning at 10 o'clock.

C On the Motion of Elvira Freese Widow of Jacob Freese deceased, it is ordered that Joseph Furtk, Henry Neff and John Warren be appointed commissioners to lay off and apportion to the said Elvira Freese her Dower in the lands of her late husband the said Jacob Freese deceased, and make report thereof to the Court.

Ordered that the Court be adjourned until to Morrow morning at 10 o'clock

J. H. Lewis

Wednesday the 17th August 1836

Present

Samuel H. Lewis, Jacob Starbuck, Augustus Waterman and
V. Charles Co. Spear

E. G. Justice

Whereas by the act of assembly passed the 2nd of March 1835 entitled an act to provide for the opening ^{repair} of the ~~roads~~ public Roads in this Commonwealth, it is made the duty of the respective County Courts, to lay off, the several public roads ~~in~~ within their Counties, into feet and convenient precincts, and to allot the hands necessary to work thereon, and from time to time to appoint Surveyors of said precincts; - and whereas, the Public Roads, in this County, has heretofore been laid off, into feet and convenient precincts, and the hands allotted, and apportioned to each of said precincts, ~~as~~ which is of record, (in the books call^d the Road books kept for that purpose), all of which precincts, and allotments of hands is hereby established, and confirmed; and it is ordered that the following persons, to and, they hereby are, appointed Surveyors of the several precincts, on the roads herein after mentioned (that is to say)

On the Stage Road.

Stephen Roadcap Surveyor of precinct N^o 1.

Samuel Foley Ditto " 2.

Daniel Whisler Ditto " 3.

Robert Mylo Ditto " 4.

Thomas Logan Ditto " 5.

Dorman Soffland Ditto " 6.

John Daniels Ditto " 7.

Michael Sellar Ditto " 8.

Jacob Cole Ditto " 9.

Myraun Marby Ditto " 10.

Andrew Spetzer Ditto " 11.

Markus Marby Ditto " 12.

Tobias Bean Ditto " 13.

Abraham Williams Ditto " 14.

all the Roads on day date to Stephen Roadcap
on 10th Sept 1836

(Swift New Gap Road)

Lewis Byrd	Surveyor of Precinct	No. 1.
Martin Speck	Doitto	" 2.
Martin Miltow	Doitto	" 3.
Joseph Hoffmann	Doitto	" 4.
Joseph Byrd	Doitto	" 5.
John Hoffmann Jr.	Doitto	" 6.
Mathew Mester	Doitto	" 7.
John Miller	Doitto	" 8.
Mathew Snyder	Doitto	" 9.
Mary Starnberger	Doitto	" 10.
Bennett Rain	Doitto	" 11.
William Kato	Doitto	" 13.

(Mellers Forge Road)

John Hoffmann	Surveyor of Precinct	No. 1.
John Kering	Doitto	" 2.

(Rockfish Gap Road No. 1)

Jacob Baker	Surveyor of Precinct	No. 1.
Adam Trobough	Doitto	2
William Merry	Doitto	3.
Henry Mello	Doitto	4.

Maynesborough Road No. 1

George E. Leape	Surveyor of Precinct	No. 1.
John Wendon	Surveyor of Precinct No. 1. (Proven Turnpike L.)	
James Johnson	Surveyor of Precinct No. 1. (New Haven Road)	

Staunton Road from Port Republic

Charles Carthens	Surveyor of Precinct	No. 1.
Samuel Serus	Doitto	" 2
Jacob Sepe	Doitto	" 3
Jacob Argabright	Doitto	" 4.

Harrisburg to Port Republic

Daniel Weiss	Surveyor of Precinct	No. 1.
Philip Miller	Doitto	" 2
James M. Hook	Doitto	" 3.
John Mount	Doitto	4.
John Carthens	Doitto	5.

(Perkeys Mill Road)

John Pines Surveyor of present N^o 1.

Peter Sawyer Ditto " 2

(Lawyers Road)

Jacob Stray ^{Surveyor of} ~~is the~~ Present N^o 1.

John Myger Ditto " 2

(Harrisburg to Nicholas Mill Rd)

Daniel Seedy Surveyor of Present N^o 1.

William Oyley Ditto " 2

(Harrisburg now Oliver Mill Rd)

Abraham Gross Surveyor of Present N^o 1.

David Chandler Ditto " 2

(Freedens Church Road)

Peter Roller Surveyor of Present N^o 1.

Peter Oliver Ditto " 2

John Plocher Surveyor of present N^o 1. on Road from Gallons Mill to
Keefel town Road paper by E. SmithJacob Miller Surveyor of Present N^o 1

William Beeland Ditto " 2

Henry Phelps Surveyor of P. N^o 1. Zerkles Mill RoadDaniel Peckinpah ~~Road~~ Ditto N^o 1. (on S. D. Peckinpahs Road cut

(from B. Bourmans Mill to B. Gap)

Henry Moyers Surveyor of present N^o 1.

(Keefel town Road leaving Slaps Road)

Mallan West Surveyor of present N^o 1.

Joshua Jennings Ditto " 2

George Parred Ditto " 3.

David Flook Ditto " 4

Volunters Bolton Ditto " 5

James Larr Ditto " 6.

Anthony Stuffman Ditto " 7.

Jacob Kelling Ditto " 8.

John Carpenter Ditto " 9.

Road passing Nichols Armbrook Mills to Old Ferrand

Joseph Armbrook Surveyor of Present A No. 1.

Adam Armbrook (Ditto) " 2

John Doffey (Ditto) " 3.

George Roads Surveyor of Present No. 1. on Sepans Mill Road.

William Newell Surveyor of Present No. 1. on Col. Hooper's Mill Road

Mapanulle Road from Swift Run Gap Road

Peter Mayers Surveyor of Present No. 1.

John Courso (Ditto) " 2.

John Peterferth (Ditto) " 3.

(Seckford Run)

Seckford Run Surveyor of present No. 1.

Jacob Miller (Ditto) " 2.

Jacob Blaw Surveyor of present No. 1. on Staker Creek Road

Berry Bear (Ditto) (on Mapanulle Swift Run Gap Road)

Grattans Old Road

Jacob Purdie Jr. Surveyor of Present No. 1.

John Allebough (Ditto) " 2

Archibald Hoffman (Ditto) " 3

John Meggan (Ditto) " 4.

Jacob Showalter (Ditto) " 5.

Joseph McMullen (Ditto) " 6.

To North Mountain Road by Rowsons Mill

George Allports Surveyor of present No. 1.

James Blyth (Ditto) " 2

Marion Bantsholan (Ditto) " 3

John Bourman (Ditto) " 4.

John Swank (Ditto) " 5.

(Stoppers Mill Road)

Peter Good Surveyor present No. 1.

Christian Meyer Jr " 2

William Hoffman " 3

Day River Gap Road.

- Jacob Shank Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- John Miller . . . Ditto " 2
- William Maister . . . Ditto " 3
- William Rice . . . Ditto " 4.

Bryers Branch Road/

- John Beggs Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- Jam. Fulton . . . Ditto " 2.
- William C. Smith . . . Ditto 3.
- Henry Gelinow . . . Ditto 4.

(North Mountain Road by

- Hugh Dew Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- James Whitman . . . Ditto " 2
- John Gordon . . . Ditto " 3.
- John Warren . . . Ditto " 4.
- Abraham Reedy . . . Ditto " 5.
- Christian Staw . . . Ditto " 6.
- John Whisler . . . Ditto " 7.
- Henry Shoemaker . . . Ditto " 8.
- William Anderson . . . Ditto " 9.

Ousters Mills Road at P

- Christian Funks Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- John Stroman . . . Ditto " 2.
- Peter Holzinger . . . Ditto " 3.

From Woodstock Road to Long house P

- Samuel Hoover Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- Joseph Blew . . . Ditto " 2

Plain Mills Roads

- Michael Norman Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- Samuel Moffatt . . . Ditto " 2.

Christian Krotyer Prop to amplex P

- Christian Krotyer Surveyor of Precinct No 1.
- Henry Spetzer . . . D M " 2
- Phelps Hoop D M " 3

Brammam Mill to Harrisburg

James Beard Surveyor of Present N^o 1.
 Joseph Leroux Ditto " 2.
 John Timpson Surveyor of Present N^o 1 on Trepelle Mill road.

Woodstock Back Road at Fronts

Sanders Mason Surveyor of present N^o 1.
 Joseph Motymer Ditto " 2.
 Philip Cook Ditto " 3.
 Anthony Roads Ditto " 4.
 Baya Mount Ditto " 5.
 John Steingarum Ditto " 6.

Brooks Gap Road from C. Motymer

Jacob Moyne Surveyor of present N^o 1.
 John Rader Ditto " 2.
 Sherr Locomon Ditto " 3.
 George Reddell Ditto " 4.
 Jacob Trumbull Ditto " 5.
 William Stearns Ditto " 6.
 Frederick Doo Ditto " 7.
 William Smith Ditto " 8.

Road up Brooks Dry River to Parsdleton Rd

Paul Shoemaker Surveyor of present N^o 1.
 John Retchy (of Jacob) Ditto " 2.
 Isaac Retchy (of Jacob) Ditto " 3.
 Jacob Roads Surveyor of Present N^o (from Old furnace to all lands)

Books let out or New Election Meeting house Road

Jacob Shank Surveyor of Present N^o 1.
 Jacob Desencar Ditto " 2.
 Andrew Byro Surveyor Present N^o 1. on S^o Byro Mill Road
 John Christman Ditto on J^o Christman Mill road

New Nally Road from Brooks Gap Road

George Seter Surveyor of present N^o 1.
 Samuel Mount Ditto " 2.
 Mark Perry Walker Ditto " 3.
 John Stuffer Ditto " 4.

In^o Chrisman New Road at WoolfJacob Woolf. Surveyor of Precinct N^o 1.Emmanuel Starnberger Surveyor Precinct (N^o 1 old Butter Road)James May Surveyor Precinct N^o 1. (from F. Dovers Lane &)

David Wiso (Detto) (from Mount Hermonford to Augusta).

Cyrus Turly Detto (from Mares Creek &)

Jacob Barly Detto on S^o Barly's Mill road

(Peter Lesins Mill road)

Emmanuel Graybill Surveyor of Precinct N^o 1.

Mathias Meneck Jr Detto " 2

Garud Pruvic Detto " 3

(Mountain Valley Road New)

James Ferkel Surveyor of Precinct N^o 1.

David Sipe Detto " 2

Adam Sayman Detto " 3.

John H. Conly Surveyor of Precinct N^o (on Jacob Barly 2^o Mill road)

New Road from Mt Gahery Hill to Starnberger

Peter Bolinger Surveyor of Precinct N^o 1.

Abraham Lensed aged Detto " 2

John Sipe Detto " 3

John Lawson Detto " 4.

James Powell Detto " 5.

James Davis Surveyor (on the road from F. Dovers to Dardsley)

John Brown Surveyor (on Brown Road)

Geo. Baker Surveyor (from Dryer track Gap road to Augustaville)

John Aiky Surveyor (on the 3 statched road)

Peter Fester (Surveyor) (at through Dayton)

John Black (Surveyor) Call S^o Black Road

Markus Thomas (Surveyor) (from County Seat of Shaw to Kelly road)

Leonard Feltner (Surveyor) Call for Rollen Mill road

And it is furthered Ordered that the aforesaid several Persons, hereby & herein appointed Surveyors of the several Precincts aforesaid, on the several Roads aforesaid, do with the Feathers so allotted and assigned to said Precincts Open the said Roads, Work thereon, and keep the same in good Repair, as the Law directs

C Assessor & Sheriff vs South-Carolina for Defendants

On the Motion of George Barros on of Joel S. Graves, dec'd, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate & accounts of said Graves dec'd and make report to the Court.

C B Bear as admin (for Trustees) vs Bears. The Jury impaneled and sworn for the trial of this cause on yesterday, appeared in Court agreeable to their adjournment, and retired from the bar to consider of their verdict and after some time returned into Court and declared that they could not agree whereupon by consent John Radw one of the said Jurors was withdrawn & the rest of the Jurors from rendering their Verdict discharged, and the cause is continued.

C B Graham vs Miller ~~Judge~~ sworn for the trial of this cause on yesterday, appeared in Court agreeable to their adjournment. & retired from the bar to consider of their Verdict and after some time returned into Court & found for the Plaintiff, for \$88.16 $\frac{1}{4}$ cents Dollars and with interest thereon from the 12 day August 1833 till paid & to agent accordingly.

James Laird P. vs Wertentaker & others. In Chancery.
 This Cause came on to be heard the 17th day of August 1836 upon the bill exhibited and it appearing to the Court, that the supposed has been served upon the Defendant James Wertentaker and the order of Publication against the absent Defendants complied with, and the Plaintiffs bill filed for 4 months, and no answer having been filed, the bill of the Plaintiffs is taken for confessed whereupon the Court doth adjudge, order and decree that the defendants, pay to the Plaintiff James Laird the sum of \$300 with interest at the rate of six per cent. per annum from the 21st day of May 1831, subject to a credit of \$43 paid the 29th of May 1833. also the further sum of \$50 with interest at the rate of six per cent. per annum from the 21st day of September 1830. and the Costs of this suit, If the Defendants shall fail to pay the aforesaid sums of

Money, or any part thereof, on or before the 1st day of October next, with the interest and costs; then John Dorsey is appointed a Commissioner, with power and authority to proceed to sell the house and lot in the town of Harrisonburg. Conveyed by George Wertentaken and wife to James Hall in trust for James Sairo and Edward St. Smith in the trust deed, ^{deed} which is filed in this cause, marked (A) in the public square, in Harrisonburg to the highest bidder for cash; having first given three weeks previous notice of the time and place of sale by advertisement in the Rockingham Register, and at the front door of the Court house of Rockingham County, and out of the proceeds he shall pay to James Sairo & Edward St. Smith, their costs expended in the prosecution of this suit, with the sum of \$300 with interest as aforesaid, subject to a credit of \$43. paid May 29th 1833. and with the sum of \$50 with interest as aforesaid, or so much thereof as the proceeds shall be sufficient to pay, and the surplus if any he shall pay to the legal representatives of George Wertentaken dec'd, and make a deed with special warranty, to the purchaser, and make report to this Court, how he hath executed this decree

May Weiss v Breslau adm. W & set aside N. A. Guel
Application & issue & continue

Oldaker v Mellen adm plea war? & Inague's consents for the
Debt in the declaration mentioned with interest & costs. ~~to be paid~~
of the ~~debt~~ ~~of the said estate~~ to be paid when
sufficient shall come to the hands of the said adm. belonging to
the estate of the said intestate to be administered.

Rutherford adm v Howells Desimped agree

Rice v Arrow v sub cut for Defendant

Co Perry v. Laker & Laker p. l. u. and I. Laker confess for \$92.74 out
Barrays with interest from 2^o May 1832 till paid & Costs.

Co Bowyer adm. for an A. Steffman & I. Laker. Jury sworn to try the
Iffes to wit, John Keifer, Daniel McQuinn, James Taylor, William
Roger, Michael Cole, Solomon Cole, James Smith, Peter Grubb.
13 Jeremiah Caldwell, Henry Gilman, Barton Whitticks & Charles
Fawcett. Verdict for the Plaintiff for the Debt in the Declaration
with interest from the 2^o of May 1833 till paid subject
to a credit of \$20 paid 15. of May 1833. and I. Laker
accordingly

Co Beckett v. Horn Jury sworn to try the Iffes to wit
Daniel Glen, Peter Grubb Jr, Jacob Bourman, Jacob Rowdenick,
Michael Loner, Archibald Laker, William Robertson, Alexander
Cooper, Paul Roller, John Chapman Nelson Sprinkle & Peter
Dowdell. Verdict for the Plaintiff for \$51.53 in damages with interest
from the date of bringing the suit (to wit) the 14. October 1834 till paid
& I. Laker accordingly, the Debt ~~being~~ ~~paid~~ ~~by~~ ~~the~~ ~~plaintiff~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~defendant~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~court~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~New~~ ~~York~~
~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~plaintiff~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~defendant~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~court~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~New~~ ~~York~~
and ~~the~~ ~~plaintiff~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~defendant~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~court~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~New~~ ~~York~~

Co Stephens v. Poente & Smith Jury sworn to try the Iffes to wit
John Robertson, Henry Keifer, Joseph Swell, John T. Godow
William Beckett, Abraham Shew, John Adams, Morgan
Keister, Joshua Keffer, John Petrick, Isaac Mirrett
and John Smithman, Verdict for the Defendant &
I. Laker accordingly for the said Defendant Costs

Co Black v. Gilman, the Debt filed a Demurrer to the Pleas and
Iffes in which the Defendant joined, which ^{Demurrer} upon argument was overruled
by the Court. whereupon the Defendant offered two special pleas which
are here filed, ^{in writing} to the filing of ^{which} pleas the Plaintiff's attorney objected
whereupon objection was overruled, and the pleas filed, to which pleas the
Plaintiff replied generally & Iffes were thereupon joined. Jury sworn
to try the Iffes to wit, John Keifer, James Taylor, Michael
Cole, Solomon Cole, James Smith, Peter Grubb, Jeremiah

Colours

Philip Miller, James W. Clellan, James W. Mallory
Mechd Lower & Robert Reed, Verdict for the Debt for
\$180 Damages & Judgment accordingly

Orders that the Court be adjourned until to morrow
morning at 10 o'clock
J. H. Lewis

Thursday the 18. August 1836
Present

Saml. Lewis, Jacob Garretts, Augustin
Materman & Charles C. Spear . . . & G. Justice

Booker v Howard &c on the Motion of the Defendants
by their Counsel, and for reasons appearing to the Court.
It is ordered that the injunction awarded the Plaintiff
to stay further proceeding on a judgment recovered by the
said ^{Defendants} Howard agst said Booker, be dissolved, and the same
is hereby accordingly dissolved

Harper v Mansfield, plea was & Judgment entered for
the Debt in the declaration mentioned, as per special
verdict with interest both saving equity

- Williamson v Gocherrow do . . . same
- Mylo . . . v Beard do . . . same
- Bourneamam v Sites do . . . same
- Krotzer adm v Booker do . . . same
- Ball for pa. v Aldopher . . . same
- Stout . . . v Fisher . . . same
- Wapp . . . v Perkey . . . same

Grazz for N. H. v Sullivan &c. Continued

C McLean v Smeterson M & set aside N. a plea of Gen. Implication
to issue and continue

C Barley v Miller M & set aside N. a plea of Gen. Implication
to issue and continue

C Young v Pochan v Pefew Contested by Court

C. Motion v Gambill the Defendant appears in Court and Confess
a plea for the Debt in the Declaration mentioned, with costs
helms costs.

C On the Motion of Emmanuel Sells, and for reasons appearing
to the Court, it is ordered that Peter Sells a Defendant now confined
in the Jail of this County, be ^{forthwith} discharged by the Jailor

C Argubright v adin v Sojan for Contests for Defendant

C Smeterson v Delects continue by Court

C same v Paul same

C Harbison v Wright continue for Plaintiff

C Jordan v Wright same

C Beegerton v Worn. The Defendant by his attorney, moves the
Court, to set aside the Verdict, rendered in this case yesterday
and the Judgment rendered thereupon, which Motion upon argument
was overruled by the Court, to which objection of the Court the said
Defendant excepted, which exception was signed and sealed
as the law directs, and is now a part of the Record.

C Step v Green. Jury sworn to try the issue to wit
Reuben Amick, Joseph Small, Robert Reed, John Sinterman
Abraham Shue, Peter Swoope, Zachariah Wheeler
John T. Jordan, Richard Robinson, Augustus Reed
Joseph Step & John Robinson, Verdict for the Plaintiff
for \$29.19 Damages with interest from the 2nd day of
May 1855 till paid, and Judgment accordingly. New trial
refused

Allen vs Suter vs Office Insurgent set aside payment Genl
replication of Speer & Canters

Medaloff vs Conroy & Woods Continued by Canters

Wright & Melchberger Continued by Canters

Miller vs ~~Woods~~ Perceus Continued by Canters

Steto & Boyer for an S. Lamb) & Paul Miller, office Insurgent set
aside payment Genl replication of Speer and Canters

Gardner vs P. Gason) & Gladwell vs Canters for Defendants (only)

Marris & Brock July sworn to by the jury to suit

Peter B. Dowdall, Samuel Shacklet, Peter Stenberger, Robert
D. Mooney, Abraham Ferry, Jeremiah Caldwell, Edmund
Briaps, Parrieo Lhem, John Whitman, Nelson Sprinkles,
Isaac Bolton & Joseph Telfer. Verdict for the Plaintiff
\$50 Damages with interest from 15 August 1836 to
Insurgent

Orders that the Court be adjourned until to Morrow
Monday at 10 o'clock
J. A. Lewis

Friday the 19. August 1836

Present

Samuel S. Lewis, Jacob Starnberger, A. Waterman
& Charles C. Spear E. G. Justice

Reed & Booy continues for Defendant

Young & Bateman Continued by Canters

Parson for vs & Rogers vs. Continued for Defendants

Keiffer & Miller adms M & S set aside N. A Genl replication
of Speer & Canters

Brock & Akers as an attached. Continued

Inventory

C An appraisal bill and sale bill, of the estate of Joseph Argubright decd. was returned ex parte & ordered to be Recorded

C On the Motion of Joseph Bellman administrator of Joseph Argubright decd. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Argubright decd. and make report to the Court

x Archibald Roalston & others, who was heretofore appointed Commissioner to divide the land of the late Thomas Campbell decd. between his heirs and representatives, made a report which by consent of the parties is ordered to be Recorded

C Settlements of ^{the estate accounts of} Malchus Braxman decd. & Sarah Johnson decd. were returned, examined by the Court and ordered to be Recorded

Shew for P. & W. Roalston. Jury sworn to try the issue to wit Robert Jones, Amos McClellan, Abraham Braxman, Daniel P. Ragen, Henry Lander, Simon Mottier, Isaac Mendenhall, Saul Stiering, Eli Stary, William Rees, Henry Pulw & W. b. Smith Verdict for the P. & W. \$40.47 ex Damages with interest from the 24th July 1834. till paid & Judgment accordingly

C B. Robertson & H. H. The Debt by leave of the Court pleads special plea which is here filed in writing, to which plea the Debt replies generally and issue is thereupon joined, ^{whereupon came a jury to wit} Robert Jones, Amos McClellan, Abraham Braxman, Daniel P. Ragen, Henry Lander, Saul Stiering, Eli Stary, William Rees, Henry Pulw, Peter Braxman, Henry Fairling & John F. Effinger. Verdict for the Defendants & Judgment accordingly - ~~Attorneys fees~~ for the Defendants Costs New Court Refers. asked for by Debt's attorney -

On the Motion of John Allbough executor of Michael Allbough decd, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said M. Allbough and make report thereof to the Court

On the Motion of Barnard Sturffman administrator of Henry Sturffman decd, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said Henry Sturffman and make report to the Court

P. B. R. Roberson vs. M. Roberson et al. M. Roberson et al. N. a. pleads. Her replication & issue & Jury sworn to try the issue to wit, John Hartland, Michael St. Effinger, Everett Sullivan, William Reed, David Shaver, Bushhart Stouaker, Samuel Henry. For et al. Deeds to John Whitmore, Henry Gelsom, William C. Smith & Joshua Raffner. Debt for the Plaintiff for \$210 Paragon with interest from 1st day of June 1893 till paid and Judgment accordingly, to be levied of the Goods & Chattels of the Testator, in the hands of the said exec to be a certificate.

Ordered that the Court be adjourned until the 4th Monday ~~Monday~~ in September next.

J. H. Lewis

found
found
not found
not found
dillo

An agreement between Tho. Marshall & Leonard Davis
Order for Lewis Jacob Nicely, executor to D. McGuire
Order for Lewis Peter Shank to Adam Ware
Order for Lewis Barbara Alder to Abraham Garrison
Order for Lewis Henry Carver to same
Order for Lewis Saml Oliver to Solomon Stone

Settlement of the estate accounts of Philip Knapp
deceased. Henry Spitzig ~~to Philip Knapp~~ and was returned
examined & ordered to be Recorded

On the Motion of Abram Ship, it is ordered that Richard
P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state &
settle the Quartermaster accounts of 5th Ship, for Lycurus Deke
and make report to the Court

Ordered that Rueloff Moyer be appointed Surveyor of
precinct No 5. on the Gallatin old road in road of Jacob
Shoemaker.

An appraisement bill of the ^{stains belonging to the} estate of Peter Nicholas
and was returned & examined & ordered to be Recorded

Settlement of the estate accounts of John Parkey and
was returned, examined & ordered to be Recorded

On the Petition of Peter Merrieth to allow a part of the
road leading from stage road to Crown Mill, it is ordered
that Emmanuel Graybill Samuel Wampler & John
Wampler, being first sworn as View the alterations
so proposed by the said Merrieth, and make report
thereof to the Court of the commissioners and in case
attending the said, agreeable to the said Petition

On the Motion of Abraham Coffman and he having
paid to H. M. Weston Deputy Sheriff \$12. it is ordered
that a license be granted him to keep an arming
shop in this county until May Court 1837 on the

entering into bond with security in the Clerk's office
as the Law directs, the Court being of the opinion that
the said Abraham Cooffman is a man of Good Character
not addicted to Drunkenness, or Gaming, and that he will
keep an ordinary ~~shop~~ and usefull house of entertainment

Register of London Brigg, James Mackley, Stephen Brock
Milly Goss, Eliza Moore, & Williams Peter free Negroes

x was returned into Court by the Clerk thereof, and being
x severally compared with the said Brigg &c and found duly
made Copies thereof, are ordered to be furnished them as
the Law directs

Settlements of the estate & accounts of Henry Perce
deceased Peter Swoope decessed & Evan Thomas, was returned
into Court. examined & ordered to be Recorded

Rebecca ^{Beardy} ~~Russell~~ over 14 years of age and daughter of James
~~Beardy~~ ^{Beardy} came into Court and made choice of Willis
Powell her Guardian, and it is ordered that the said
x Willis Powell be appointed Guardian for Sarah Ann, James
and Noah also children of said James Beardy and under
14 years of age, he having entered into bond with security
in the penalty of \$1000 as the Law directs

On the Motion of John Blain Administrator of Mathias Boak
and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed
a Commissioner to examine settle and settle the estate accounts
of said Mathias Boak and make report to the Court.

Ordered that Jacob ^{Peterson} ~~Christen~~ be appointed Guardian for
x Jacob, Daniel, Christian, Mary, Benjamin, Susanna, & Sarah
Peter children of John ^{Peterson} ~~Christen~~ and under 14 years of
age who entered into bond with security in the penalty
of \$14,000 as the Law directs

Harvey, by and Elizabeth ^{Peterson} ~~Rates~~ children of John
x ^{Peterson} ~~Rates~~ and over 14 years of age came into Court and

made choice of Abraham ~~John~~ Delrick as their Guardian
and it is ordered that the said Abraham Delrick be
appointed Guardian for Catharine & John Delrick
children of said John Delrick and under 14 years of
age who entered into bond with security in the penalty
of \$1000. as the law directs

ex parte
+

Ordered that Robert W. Palmer be appointed Surveyor of
Precinct No 2 on Miller Forge Road in the room of
John Leray

ex parte
+

Ordered that Miriam Garrison be appointed Surveyor of
Precinct No 3 on the Road leading past Miller Forge
in the room of Henry Miller

ex parte
+

Ordered that Selah Holbrook be appointed Surveyor of
Precinct No 1 on the Wayborough Road in the room of
George E. Leray

ex parte
+

Ordered that George W. Burtis be appointed Surveyor of
Precinct No 1 on the New Haven Road, in the room
of James Johnson

George Messersmith v. William M. Davis, on a Motion
of Wm Davis to John Roberts as security, notes
found. & Debt call? In argument is awarded the Debt for
\$483.93 with interest from the 20. day of August 1836
all paid. P Costs

ex parte
+

Harrison v. Courser on a Summons to show
Cause why arrest should not be opened through his hands
agreeably to the report of the Jury, the said Defendant
appears in Court and prays a writ of a good-
Name, which was granted him, to be arreted to the
sheriff and to be executed on the 16th day of October 1836
Returnable here at the Next Court

ex parte
+

On the Motion for ~~the~~ David Winter a son of
John Delrick dec. it is ordered that He be

P. Fletcher to be appointed a commissioner to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said John DeLr. He do and make report to the Court

Wanpelt v. Senaw on a Motion on bond taken for the safety of property, note from, Defts call? Lawyers Deputies
6 answers, according to law

G. H. Graham v. Rogan on same

K. Clayton v. McMahon on same

Dy. Pate v. Barrons on same

G. H. Reid v. Looker on same

Prosser v. ~~Barstow~~ ^{Barstow} on a writ of Ad quod - Barrons to establish a Mill & dam a crop. Beaver Creek, the parties having agreed that the said Mill and Dam shall be established agreeable to the request of the jury, it is ^{& the said Barstow withdrawing all opposition to said writ} ordered that the same be established, agreeable to the request of the jury, ~~the agreement of the parties~~ ^{the agreement of the jury}

Resolved that Richard P. Fletcher, be appointed a commissioner of the Revenue Law for the County for the year 1837. in of for the ^{North West} ~~South West~~ East district, and that James Clark be appointed a commissioner of said County for the year 1837 in of for the ^{North} ~~South~~ East district, on their entering into bond with security on the Law direct.

On the Motion of John N. Nicholas on of Peter Nicholas and appor it is ordered that Joseph Manning be appointed a commissioner to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of s^r. John N. Nicholas dec^d and make report to the Court

Resolved that the overseer of the poor be and Harry Hogaw ~~of~~ poor child of Beverly Hogaw 10 years old North

Lanney, to Isaac Hardisty as the Law clerk, who agrees to give him for free adm. cum \$20.

On the Motion of Hugh Bruffy, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$15.00 and made oath thereto as the Law clerk, a certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of administration on the estate of Henry M. Peterson deceased in due form, Jane C. Peterson the widow having from her husband relinquished her right of administration - and it is ordered that Pleasant A. Clarke, Brown Miller, Isaac Fisher & John Shepley or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Peterson and make report to the Court

John F. Reimensperger. This day produced his Credentials of his Ordination, and also of his being in regular Communion with the German Lutheran Church took the oath of allegiance to this Commonwealth and with the very Majesty the Father his security entered into bond in the penalty of \$1500. con. articles as the Law clerk, whereupon, on his Motion, a Certificate is granted him in due form

On the Motion of John Robertson executor of William Robertson deceased, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine and settle the estate accounts of sd. William Robertson and make report to the Court

On the Motion of George M. Pifer agent of Colo. Archibald Rutherford and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine and settle the estate accounts of said Rutherford & make report to the Court

On the Motion of Matthew Croft, it is ordered that Joseph Ceram Sheriff of this County, take into his hands and possess the estate of Jacob Richardson decd. and administer the same according to Law.

On the Motion of Christian Starn for Christian Starn Jr. son of Philip Reay decd. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine estate and settle the estate accounts of said Reay and make report to the Court.

Allwrits purporting to be the last will and Testament of Peter Roller and was presented in Court, and was proved by the oaths of the witnesses thereto for and to his Executors and on the Motion of John Roller & Peter Roller the executors in the said will who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$2000 and made oath that as the Law directs, a certificate is granted them for obtaining approval thereof in due form.

Brooks & Allen as an attached. continue.

On the Motion of Joseph William Washly, and ~~for~~ appearing to the Court, that he had lost the register of his freedom, it is ordered that the Clerk furnish the said Mr. Washly with a duplicate of his said Register in the manner directed by Law.

Abraham Williams Junius, Children of Christian Junius and Grace Children of Peter Sowerman deced. ~~came into Court~~ ^{as then by garnish & it is ordered that he} on the 14 years of age, came into Court, and made choice of said Christian Junius, be appointed Guardian for Peggy & Lydia Junius also children of the said Christian, and Grace Children of the said Peter Sowerman deced. he having entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$1000 as the Law directs.

On the Motion of Christian Zimmerman, who entered into
 bonds with security in the penalty of \$150. and made
 oath thereunto as the Law directs, a certificate is granted
 him, as the estate of Elizabeth his late wife, formerly
 Elizabeth Sowerman a Daughter of Peter Sowerman deceased
 in due form.

Present. Richard P. Fletcher & David

Heaton.

It is ordered that the Court be adjourned until the third
 Monday in October next

David Heaton

Virginia to wit

At a Court held for the County of Rockingham
on the Third Monday being the 17th day of October 1836

Present

Saml. Lewis, Jacob Harriberger, Jacob Purser
Reuben Moor E. G. Justice

A Book of Orders and other writings admitted to Record in
the Clerk's office of the County Court of Rockingham from
the first to the 30th day of September (inserted) was returned
to court, and being examined by the Court, is ordered to be
entered in the Minutes and a like list to be set up at the
door of the Court house of said County, which list is as
follows (to wit)

not found
found
not found
ditto
ditto
ditto
ditto
found
not found
found
not found
not found
ditto
not found

- Order for said Michael May to Henry Henegardus
- Order for said Isaac Meeker to George Meeker
- Order for said Stephen Harriberger to John W. Es.
- ditto Order for said John Harriberger to Jas. W. West
- ditto Order for said Adam Melissad to Richard Wingfield
- ditto Order of Release for said Richard P. Fletcher to A. W. Kelpatrick
- ditto Order for said Abner W. Kelpatrick to Jacob Keadrick
- ditto Order for said Daniel Smith P. to Henry Early
- found Order for said same to Amos Showalter
- found Order for said Geo. Smith to same
- not found Order for said Jacob Sprague to John Brown
- found Order for said same to Martin Miller
- not found Order for said A. R. Givins to Stephen Harriberger
- found Order for said John A. Austin to A. R. Givins
- not found Order for said G. H. Givins & heirs of Geo. Givins to R. Givins Jr
- ditto Power of attorney from Robert Givins Jr to R. Givins Jr.
- not found Order for said John Gordon to Peter Good
- not found Order for P. Property Carlos Long to J. Armstrong in trust for F. Armstrong
- Order for said D. Lutz to B. Bryan in trust for Babel Lutz
- Order for said same to Geo. Wilson in trust for B. Lutz Jr

- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said John Stealy to Thomas McGuire
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said same to John Warren
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Robert Gattow Jr to John Rollo
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Sheru Gocherous to Richard Wierfield
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said George Carrod to Thomas Milled
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said Jas. Weggam to Jno. Wely (for Dr. Henry)
- ~~ditto~~ An agreement for said Joseph Blain & Joseph Werry deceased
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said Carlos Custer to Sarel Mount
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Peter Bowyer to Peter Hyge
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for P. Property D. Chateaugy to D. W. Gambill in trust for D. Dagen
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said George Warren to Geo John Shumate
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said John Whitehouse to Peter Paul Jr.
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said John Cowan to Richard Wierfield
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Jacob Wapp to Jacob Reed
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said Lemuel Bowman to John Whitman
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Jacob Whitehead to John Stafford
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Geo. Warren to James Heald
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said Philip Teltard to William Starke Jr
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said John Empswell to Jacob A. Mitchell
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said R. Peckering to John Cowan
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Peter Whitman to Peter Paul Jr
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for P. Property Jacob Spangler to Mr. Hackley
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Isaac Wardly to same
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Jo. Craven Sheff to Thomas M. Still
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Carlos Custer to Charles C. Spears
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Robert Gattow Jr to A. M. Weston
- ~~ditto~~ Ad us for said A. M. Weston to J. S. Perrybaker in trust for R. Gattow Jr
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Absolum Painter to Abraham Painter
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Jonathan Bury des to Henry Carrod
- ~~found~~ Ad us of Orleans for said S. W. Gambill to Sarel Mount
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said E. Fisher to Samuel Fisher
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Jacob Roads to Mary Roads
- ~~found~~ Ad us of Orleans for Robert Gray to Sarel Mount
- ~~found~~ Ad us for said Adam Rogers to Abraham Chese
- ~~not found~~ Ad us for said Carlos Custer to Sarel Milled

On the Motion of George Oliver, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed to examine state and settle the ~~estate~~ accounts of said George Oliver as Guardian of Joseph & Jacob Tyson children heirs of said John Tyson deceased and make report thereof to the Court.

A Writing purporting to be the Last will and Testament of Henry Shanks deceased, was presented in Court and was proved by the oaths of Michael B. Oliver & Joseph Fry two Witnesses thence returned to be Received, and on the Motion of Christian Frenk & Joseph Showalter the execs of names in the said will who made oath thence, and entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$6000 a certificate is granted them for obtaining approval thereof in due form, and it is ordered that, George Shaver, Abraham Pramanow, Abraham Bury & Michael B. Oliver or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of said Shanks and make report to the Court.

On the Petition of Charles C. Spear V. to alter a part of the Public Road as set forth in the said Petition, it is ordered that Peter Pramanow, David Beard, John Chrisman & John Bourman or any 3 of them being first sworn do show the said alterations and make report to the Court of the Courtroom and incur witness attorney the same as the law directs.

The Court doth hereby fix the fees for hammers, factoring to work on the public Roads in this County at one Dollar per day, as directed by law which is ordered to be Certified.

Merry Chamberlaine procons in Court and account for attorney examining ~~at~~ Court, and also for examining and certifying the Courtroom books for 1836 which were allowed and ordered to be Certified.

Joseph Craven Sheriff the same for summoning and attorney called Court, which was ordered & allowed to be Certified.

On the Motion of John Steep. It is ordered that a
 license be granted him to keep private entertainments in
 the county until May Court 1877. he having paid to
 Geo. W. Stephens Esq Deputy Sheriff \$1.77 cents

Settlements of the estate accounts, of John Hyer dec'd
 & George Shucky dec'd, were returned, examined & ordered to
 be received

Barbara Coffman orphan of Jacob Coffman dec'd &
 his daughter of Jacob Coffman dec'd, over 14 years
 of age came into Court and made choice of John
 Taylor as her guardian, who entered into bond with
 security in the penalty of \$250 as the law directs

James Holman, Elizabeth Shackley & Eli Smith free
 Negroes, & Kelly Shackley, came into Court and being compar-
 ed to the the Registers taken in the office of them, and
 when Register was found duly made, copies thereof are
 ordered to be furnished them as the law directs

Barth is Dull Sr on a Note on delay bond stolen
 by

Rec'd Smith & Co. same

Patron C. Dorman on appeal. do not content

Stewart & Allman on appeal. same

Ordered that George Duffman Jr be appointed guardian
 for Barbara Ann ^{Wm Dull} orphan of Jacob ^{Paul} dec'd an infant
 under 14 years of age, who entered into bond with security
 in the penalty of \$6.00 as the law directs

Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Peter
 Lewis dec'd, was presented in Court and was found by the
 oath of Amasa Moffet & John Bell two witnesses thereof

orders to be Recd. and On the Motion of Michael
Loren the executor named in the said will who made oath
thereto. and with surety entered into and a subpoenae bene in the
sum of \$20,000. as the law directs a certificate is granted ~~to~~
him for obtaining approval thereof in due form, and it is ordered
that Isaac Moffitt, Samuel Storer, Daniel Quinn & Jacob
Good, or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the
estate of the said Peter Loren and make report to the Court

(P)

Order Joseph Laramie proceeds in Court on account for
alleged and allowed as Jacob Spitzer & Associates confined
in the Jail of this County, which account was ordered and
allowed by the Court and ordered to be certified

(P)

On the Motion of Peter Stanton one of the overseers of the
poor for this County, it is ordered that the overseers of the poor
bind Henry Baily a free boy of colour, and Barbara Ann Baily
a free girl of colour, both of whom are 8 years old on the 1st
of January 1837, to Daniel Flock the boy to be taught the
business of farming and the girl to be taught housewifery
including knitting and spinning, the said Flock is added
to the \$20 per annum due to be paid each, together with a suit of
clothes to each agree of his own bounty to pay to each of the
children when they arrive at age, the further sum of \$30.
and likewise agree to pay to Fanny Baily the Mother of said
children the sum of \$10 annually until the said children
shall attain the age of 21 years the S^r Flock having offered
the above mentioned terms, to the Court, and the further order
that s^d payments so to be made be entered in the indentures
to be executed by the overseers of the poor

(P)

Ordered that Richard P. Fletcher appointed to settle the
Guardian accounts of Maria Ship with his ward Lydia
Ship, allow in said settlement ^{54 sh} the vouchers of said Guardian as
he may produce for articles furnished his ward for board &c
and apply the principal as well as the trust to the payments
thereof &c

(C)

(P)

An appraisment bill and sale bill of the estate of Joseph Stanton and. were returned ex officio to be Recorded

Peter Smith factor of this County produced in Court two accounts, the one for detaining several prisoners in the jail of this County & the other for detaining clothing & all manner of several detentions conferred in said jail, which accounts were examined and allowed by the Court & ordered to be

Certified

On the Motion Isaac Thomas executor of Peter Hoarty and.

It is ordered that Anderson Moffet & Deane Perry take to appointed Commissioners to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Peter Hoarty and make report to the Court

Mabella Freese orphan of Jacob Freese died over the year of age came into Court, and made choice of John Christman as her Guardian, who entered into Court bond with security in the penalty of \$300 as the law directs

It is ordered that each of the tithables, ~~settled~~ allotted to John Sides the unduties, for the last year, as per list returned by the Commissioners, which is ordered to be certified to the said Sides.

Committed in Jacob Blazer, on a recogny for breach of the peace on the complaint of Seth Elger, the said defendant appeared in Court ~~and~~ ⁱⁿ discharge of his recogny and agreed to enter ^{good} ~~into~~ ^{securities} ~~to~~ keep the peace and be of good behavior, whereupon it is ordered that he enter into such recogny himself in the sum of \$100 and security in the sum of \$100. to be of good behavior for 12 months towards all the citizens of this County, and thereupon the said Jacob Blazer with Jacob Lumbard

Certified
sent to Sides
by Messrs Joseph
9 or an of
Sides

his security. appeared in Court and severally acknowledges themselves to owe and be indebted to his excellency Wyndham Roberts esq. a Judge Governor of the Commonwealth. each in the sum of \$100. to be levied of their respective goods and Chattle Lanes and Tenements and for the use of the S^d Court to be returned, upon condition that the said Jacob Blazer shall keep the peace and be of good behavior, for 12 months, then he is liable to the above or any other the Recy to be void or annul it is ordered that the said Jacob Blazer pay the costs of this proceeding.

On the Motion of John Cowan administrator of Grace Layton deceased, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said Layton and make report thereof to the Court.

John Loker v. Jas. Howard & Co. in Chancery
The plaintiff having shown no cause for continuing the same as an original suit, and this being the second return since the injunction was dissolved, the same is ordered to be dismissed and that the Defendants recover against the Plaintiff the costs of the same. It is ordered that the Plaintiff pay the costs of the Defendants in this suit.

On the Motion of Jacob Cole executor of John Kooty deceased, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said John Kooty and make report to the Court.

On the Motion of the poor of Henry Rain, an acreage, on the complaint of the overseer of the poor as the father of above born child of Warrick Smith, the said Defendant appears in Court in discharge of his Recy. whereupon the Motion of the attorney for the overseer of the poor the said proceeding to continue until the next term and that the said Defendant give security for his appearance here at the next term, in the sum of \$75 and his security in the

of \$75 whereupon the said Henry Davis with Daniel May his security, appears in Court and acknowledges themselves to owe and be indebted to his excellency Myrsham Robertson acting Governor of Virginia, ^{and his successor in Office} that is to say the said Davis in the sum of \$75. and the said May in the sum of \$75. to be livers of their respective Goods and Chattels Barnes and Ferrarists for the use of the Court to be Remained; yet upon this condition that the said Henry Davis shall appear here at the next Court, and answer the Complaint of the Overseeer of the poor as the father of a bare born Child of Harriet Smith and will not depart the Court until discharged by law. When this is recognized to be void

It is ordered that Betty Ann Bailey a free Girl of Colour. be bound by the Overseer of the poor to Archibald Brock (about 11 years old) as the Law directs, the said Brock agreeing to pay to the said Betty Ann. when she arrives at the age of 21 years the sum of \$50. and a good suit of clothes for freedom dues, and he moreover agrees to pay to ^{Fanny Daily} the Mother of the said Betty Ann. the sum of \$50 to be paid in annual payments of \$10. a year, all which is to be named in the indenture

It is ordered that the Overseer of the poor bind Caroline Bailey about 16 years of age to Adam Allen, as the Law directs who agrees to give her \$50. when she arrives at the age of 21 years, and also a good suit of clothes for freedom dues, and he moreover agrees to pay to Fanny Daily the Mother of the said Caroline, the sum of \$50 to be paid in annual payments of \$10. per year, all which agreements are to be ~~entered~~ named in the indenture

At the Motion of Stephen Harshbarger the acting executor of Benjamin Lewis decd. It is ordered that Richard P.

Fletcher to appoint a commissioner, to examine state and settle the estate accounts of said, Benjamin Lewis, and make report thereof to the court

C Proctor & Akers upon an affidavit as respects

Harrison & Co. - Carrod & Co. petition for a road - Controversy

Carrod & Harrison & Co. on a writ of Adquod Damnum Controversy

Current
Prerogative Richard P. Fletcher & Land Co etc

It was that the owner of the poor boy Harry Peck a free boy of colour, about 5 years old in July last, to Mr. Richard Rutherford to be found taught the farming business at the law courts, the said Rutherford a greenie to give to the said Harry Peck when he shall arrive to 21 year of age \$50 and good suit of clothes as per order done, and moreover agree to pay to Maria Peck the

mother of the said Harry the sum of \$50 to be paid to her in the following manner, to wit. \$5 per ^{from the time he is 10 years old} year, until the said boy arrives at the age of 14 years, and then \$10 per year from the last mentioned date until the said \$50 is paid up, and all which agreements are to be ~~made~~ ^{made} in the indenture

It was that the court to adjourn until the 3rd Monday in November next

R. P. Fletcher

State of Virginia,

Rockingham County to wit,

15th for Pepp.

15th for off.

At a Court held at the Court House of said County on the 31st

of October 1836. by Verture of all warrant issued by Peachy
 Harrison Esq. a Justice of the Peace for the said County on
 the Complaint of John Ranken agt Jones Tyler, which warrant
 of Complaint is in the words and figures following to wit. To
 the Sheriff of Rockingham Co. agreeable to the Act of assembly
 entitled an act to explain and amend an act reducing into
 an act the several acts concerning forcible entries and

Petition,

Prerogative

Jacob Harshbarger, & Augustus Waterman Gent Justices

John Ranken

Plaintiff

agt
Jones Tyler

Defendant Upon a Warrant for
 an unlawfully detaining
 from the plaintiff, and against his
 current, the properties of a Certain
 Trenchment containing 2 acres with the
 appurtenances, lying and being in the
 said County of Rockingham

This day came as will the Plaintiff by his attorney as
 the said Defendant by his attorney. where upon by current, the
 following Jury was sworn and empanelled, to wit: John Longh
 Jesse Mallory, John B. Mouth, Elijah Dumas, John F. Spriggs
 Michael Miller, Abraham Flora, James A. Dilworth, George W
 Hervey, Peter Felton, Joseph Harshbarger & James M. Miller,
 and they not agreeing in their Verdict by current John B. Mouth
 one of the said Jurors was withdrawn and the rest of the
 Jurors discharged, and the Cause is remanded to the next
 Court to be held for this County for Tread.
 and the Court arose

Aug. Waterman
 J. W.

to wit, John (a Negro man) Thomas Baker & Michael
Merritt. witnesses for the Crown were sworn and examined
and their depositions taken, and the Court not having time to
go through the same, the prisoner was remanded to jail
and the Court is ordered to be adjourned until tomorrow
morning at 10 o'clock

Peachey Harrison

Thursday the 17th day of November 1836.

Present

Peachey Harrison, Jacob Rush, Augustus Waterman
Charles C. Spear, Jonathan Peal, Isaac Thomas & Robert Galtan for the
Prisoner

The prisoner was again led to the bar in Custody of the
jailer, and thereupon Sunday other witnesses, to wit, Abraham
Smith, Isaac Hardisty, Hugh Owen, Peter Byers &
Wm. Tudor, & James Owen, were sworn and examined &
their depositions taken, and the Court not having time to
finish the trial, the prisoner was remanded to jail
and the Court was adjourned until to morrow morning
at 9 o'clock

Peachey Harrison

Friday the 18th November 1836

Present

Peachey Harrison, Jacob Rush, Augustus Waterman
Jonathan Peal, Robert Galtan Jr. Charles C. Spear & E. J. Fisher
Isaac Thomas

The Prisoner was again led to the bar in Custody of
the jailer, and the Court having maturely considered
of the evidence, and arguments of Counsel, ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~prisoner~~ ^{prisoner}
~~of the evidence~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~prisoner~~ ~~and~~ ~~the~~ ~~Court~~
being divided in opinion, as to the guilt or innocence
of the prisoner, - and the law in that case being in
favour of the prisoner, it is therefore ordered

That he be discharged -

The court doth allow to ~~them~~ Isaac Perrybaker & John
 Cap & d^r to Perry exp. the ~~attorney~~ jointly the Counsel assigned to
 G.P. defend the Prisoner \$25. which is to be paid them out
 of the estate of the said Frank Wren deceased.

Ordered that the court be adjourned.

Peckey Harrison

Virginia to suit

A Court held for the County of Rockingham on Monday the 21st day of November 1836, being the 2^d Tuesday in November 1836.

Present.

Peachy Harrison, Jacob Rusk, Augustus Waterman
P. Rowen Moore E. G. Fisher

A list of Deeds and other writings admitted to Record in the Clerk's Office of the County Court of Rockingham from the 1st to the 31st of October 1836. (both days included) was returned into Court by the Clerk thereof, which being examined by the Court, it stands to be entered on the Minutes, and a like list to be posted up, at the front door of the Court house of said County, which list is in the words following to wit,

- found Deed for said John Harrison to Mr Michael Hoffman
- not found Deed for said George Courso to John Seiffers
- do Deed for said John Seiffers to George Courso
- do Deed for said Jacob A. Mitchell to George S. Hall
- found Power of attorney S. M. Gambill to David S. Gambill
- not found Deed for said George Stottler to Samuel Bottom
- found Deed for said George P. Rice to Richard Robertson
- found Deed for said ... same ... to B. Smith (for Rob. Gains)
- found Deed for said Saw Lambert to John Miller P. heir (of S. Millers)
- not found Deed for said Samuel Oyles to Joseph Maury
- do Deed for said Jacob Nicholas ear to Jacob Moore
- do Deed for said ... same ... to Henry Armstrong
- Deed for P. Estate D. Berry to Geo. Lewis in trust for Isaac Hardisty
- found Deed for said Levi Starnes to John Brown
- not found Deed for said George Merrick to Susanna Lambert

- not found Ad. us for Sars Peter Miller to Alexander R. Givens
 do Ad. us for Sars Thomas M. Mansfield to Peter Fitch
 found Ad. us for Sars George Stufferman to Daniel Stufferman
 not found Ad. us for Sars Treas. to Murry P. to John M. Alden
 found Ad. us for Sars Henry Carver to Barbara Alden
 not found Ad. us for Sars Abraham Smith to Samuel Shacklet
 do Ad. us for Sars Abraham Litchfield to William Mayry
 do Ad. us for Sars Jacob Newman to William Newman
 + Ad. us for P. Estate Philip Boyer to J. Kenney in trust for St. Currow
 not found Ad. us for Sars William Leaven Camp to John St. Stephen
 do Ad. us for Sars _____ said to Geo. M. Parry & also
 found Ad. us for Sars Emanuel Graybill to Peter ~~Strook~~ Holzinger
 not found Ad. us for Sars Abraham Stone to John S. James Miller.

Peter Nead & Benjamin Bowman this day presented Credits
 of their Creditors and also of their being in regular Communion
 with the Dutch Baptist Church, took the oath of allegiance
 to this Court, and with John Cohen & Daniel Miller
 then so entered, entered into bond in the penalty of \$1500 each
 conditioned as the Law directs, whereupon on their Motion
 Testimonials is granted them in due form

The appraisement bill, and sale bill of the estate of
 Adam McKeith and also make report to the Court

On the the Motion of Wenceslas Smith and for Satisfactory
 reasons appearing to the Court, it is ordered to be Certified
 that Jacob Smith deceased, was a revolutionary prisoner of
 the United States under the Law of September 28. 1814. that he
 died on the 18 day of August 1836 leaving said Wenceslas
 Smith his Widow -

George Carver former, Abram Perry, Jacob Hill
 Daniel Good, Hanson Wright, Adam Nead, Cyrus

Roads, Reuben K. Scott, John Seay, Abram Deas, George M. Henry, Eugene Anderson, Thomas McGuire, Joseph Benscholden, Benjamin F. Roalston and Jaffe Malloy, were sworn before the jury who received their charge, and returned from the bar to the court of their presentments and after some time returned into court and made the following an indictment -
 Laman Wright for an assault & battery a law bill -
 an indictment - Clayton Southward for an assault & battery a law bill - no presentment before the jury for remaining

- in this Court more than 12 months - no presentment Isaac Brooks a free Negro for remaining in this Court for more than 12 months - and the said Henry and Jaffe having no further business before them, were discharged, and it is ordered that summonses be awarded against the said defendants to answer the said indictments and presentments returnable here at February Court next -

- A Writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of Philip Rymer for deceased was presented in court and was proved by the oaths of Joseph Maury and George Whitzel & witnesses thereto & ordered to be recorded, and on the Motion of Philip Rymer for the executor named in the said will, who made oaths thereto, and with security in the sum of \$5000. ^{entered into bond} as the law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining probate thereof in due form, and it is ordered that George Whitzel, John Steffenow, John Argubright & Jonathan Peal or any 3 of them being first sworn as appraisers the estate of the said Philip Rymer and make report to the court

C On the Motion of Hugh Dew, who entered into bond with
 security in the penalty of \$6,000. and made oath thereto as
 the law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining
 letters of administration on the estate of Francis Dew deceased
 in due form, and it is ordered that Abraham Smith (A.A.)
 John Brown, Martin Miller (Beverly Creek) and John Whitman
 or any 3 of them being first sworn as appraisers the estate
 of said Francis Dew dec. and make report to the Court

C Advers of emancipation from Joseph Coffman to his Negro man
 David Law, was presented in Court and was a scire facias by the said
 Coffman & claims to be Repealed

C On the Motion of Allen L. Bryan, who entered into bond with
 security in the penalty of \$8,000. and made oath thereto as the
 law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining letters of
 administration on the estate of Walter Davis deceased in due
 form, and it is ordered that Robert M. Hyley, Joseph Coffman,
 James St. Ives, Martin Miller & Henry Sherman or any 3 of
 them being first sworn as appraisers the estate of the said Walter
 Davis deceased, and make report to the Court.

Present

Jacob Miller & Charles C. Spear. absent Jacob Peck &
 Peckay Garrison -

Copy sent
 by mail 29
 Nov. 1826

The Court proceeded to nominate 3 persons to act as sherrif
 of this county for the ensuing year, whereupon the names of
 the further present being poll^d in the manner direct by law
 they ^{unanimously} ~~separately~~ voted for David Stanton, Richard P. Fletcher &
 Jacob D. Williamson, whereupon it is ordered that the
 said David Stanton, Richard P. Fletcher and Jacob D. Williamson
 be recommended to the Executive as proper and fit persons
 to be commissioned as sherrif of this county for the ensuing year

On the Motion of Joseph Krotya Jr. who ~~is~~ at the last
 August term of the County Court of this County, was appointed
 a Surveyor of Precinct N^o 2 on a part of the public road
 leading from Harrisburg to Woodstock, call^d the back
 road, and it appearing to the Court by satisfactory evidence
 that the said Joseph Krotya on the 9th of this month
 and for the first time after his said appointment received
 notice of the same, and for reasons appearing to the
 Court, the said Joseph Krotya is hereby discharged from
 the duties of the office of Surveyor as aforesaid, -

*copy & del^y
 sheff* x
 It is ordered that Henry Pulver be appointed Surveyor of
 Precinct N^o 2 on the Woodstock back road, in the room
 of Joseph Krotya Jr. resigned &

On the Motion of Herman Marty administrator of Catharine
 Marty, deceased, it is ordered that Isaac Thomas, Derick
 Perrybaker and John Cowan, or any one of them
 be appointed commissioners, to examine and settle
 the estate accounts of said Catharine Marty and make
 report to the Court

John Smeterman vs Peter Paul. In case by consent of
 the parties by their attorneys all matters in difference
 between them in this suit is referred to the award and
 final determination of David S. Jones and ^{James} ~~Charles~~ Miller
 whose award or the award of their umpire in case of
 disagreement is to be made the Judge of the Court

Newham vs Jones upon an attachment

The constable having returned on the attachment, the ~~defendant~~ ^{plaintiff}
 on the 10th and the said Defendant was solemnly called but
 not appearing. ^{to reply the same} ~~and~~ The plaintiff is awarded for the Plaintiff for
 for \$19.75 the cost in the attachment mentioned, and costs,
 and it is ordered that the sheriff make sale of the

allotted property according to law, and pay the money arising from the sale thereof to the Plaintiff in satisfaction of this Judgment.

Verdict of Jury in Henry Racine on a Regy. P. disimpf. with such costs to the Defendant.

Counts & Spitzw. on a Regy. P. at reach of the peace, the prosecution not appearing, the prosecution is ordered to be disimpf.

Counts & Mistry. By consent of the attorney for the counts with the assent of the Court, this prosecution is ordered to be disimpf.

An appraisment bill of the estate of Henry Shanks dec. was returned and ordered to be recorded.

Count of J. Foley on an Ind. J. returned, returned for Defendant.

On the Motion Edward H. Smith, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine & settle the accounts of the said Edward H. Smith as Guardian of Margaret Wier, orphan of John Wier dec. and make report thereof to the Court.

Ordered that the Court be adjourned until to Morrow morning at 10 o'clock

Jacob Miller

Tuesday the 22^d November 1826

Parent

Abraham Smith, Jacob Miller &
James Abbot, Reuben Moore, Abraham [unclear]

P. Augustus Waterman E. G. Justice

Combs & Lewis ~~My & Speer~~ Contend

same & Feud My & Speer and Contend

Cowan and - Trout. office. Inquest set aside payment
duplication of Speer and Contend.

Coffman & Jew & Sterling same

Long & Byers same

Shenton & Bentholden & Lewis same

Hooper & W. Mahan same

Miles (for Allen) & Clarke same

Carlyle & Harpell Dismissed agreed

Parsons (for Leggett) & Rogers dismissed agreed

Combs & Burke My & Speer and Contend

Harrison & - Carrol on Petition, Contend
(for award).

Carrol & Harrison P. on writ ad quod - Damnum Contend

Steele & W. Mahan Contend award

Young & Poshon & Peffer Contend

Peckering & - Roark Contend by court

Crawford & Shes Contend

King and & W. Mahan Inquest for award

C Gambell (for Dinkels) v Roberts dismissed agreed

Morgan v Merry ordered by court, and on the Motion of the Plt. it is ordered that James McCloud a Witness for the Plt in this Cause, show cause at February Court Next, if any he can why he shall not be found for an according to law for such his non attendance,

Scott (for C. Dorman) v Mrs. Maria N. Rogers continues

C. (60) Royer v W. Makaw. dismissed agreed & Judgment for Defs costs except this Lawyers fee

On the Motion of John Brown, it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine state & settle the ~~extant~~ ~~by~~ ~~gross~~ accounts of the said John Brown as Guardian, of said, John, William L. & Mary Ryan orphans of John Ryan dec. and make report thereof to the court

C Cousins v Steep dismissed agreed.

Jordan v Wright Jury sworn to wit, William Earnan James Taylor, David Steensprung, William Wright, John Miller
B John Sipe, John S. Berry, Thomas Logan, William Payne George Even for Joseph Kelly & James Ranken, Verdict for the Plt for \$30 Damages with interest from the 5th December 1832 all paid, Costs. & Judgment accordingly.

Murdock (for P. M. Cross) v Woods. continues.

Harmon v Holbrook continues for Defendant

Beards v Smith (for S. T.) v Beards. continues for Defendant

Sturman v Seepers v suits continues by court.

Argubrights v Adams & Logan for Jury sworn to try the said to wit John Merrick, George Moringo, Amos McWilliam William Harper, Jonathan Bateman, Isaac Wright Jacob

May, James Litley, John Seiffers, John Sinterman & Sealang McGinnis & Henry B. Rodes. Verdict for the Defendants whereupon on the Motion of the Plff, the said Verdict is set aside and a new Verdict is granted herein to be had at the next Court upon his paying to the Defendants, the Costs of this term, and the Cause is continued

(for use of A. S. Rutherford)
Clark v Rains. On the Motion of the Plaintiff it is ordered that the Clerk give a Case on the Jurisprudence heretofore rendered in this Case, & returnable here as the Law directs (which execution is to issue ^{hereby awarded} in favor of said Clark)

Starsham v J. Wrights Jury sworn to try the case to wit. William Earman, James Taylor, David Stenning, William Wright, John Mellis, John Sep. David Ragen Geo. M. Sanger, Thomas Jegan William Payne, Joseph Kelly & David Starsham. Verdict for Plff for \$77.69 with Damages with interest on \$30 part thereof from the 5th March 1832 till paid & Costs & Judgment accordingly

Robert v Miller adms. plea was of Inquest. Confess for the debt in the declaration mentioned, with interest & Costs, ^{to be denied} when assets shall, come to the hands of the ^{Defendant} ~~plaintiff~~ ^{estate of the} ~~estate~~ ^{to be administered} belonging to the ^{estate of the} ~~estate~~ to be administered

Falley for P & Looker v Plea was of Inquest Confess for the debt in the declaration mentioned with interest &

- Costs saving (equity) saw
- Weston for P & Fisher saw
- Allen v Lites P saw
- Healwood v Rogers P saw
- Reakard v Fisher P saw

Miller v Perce Jury sworn to enquire of the damages in this Case, (to wit) same Jury as in Starsham v Wrights Verdict for the Plff for \$50. Damages with interest from 14. July 1834 till paid & Judgment accordingly

Anderson Moffett, Greenham Gentlemen.

Orders that the court be adjourned until to morrow morning at 10 o'clock

~~XXXXXXXXXX~~

Wednesday the 24th November 1836

Present

Anderson Moffett, Jacob Miller, Augustus Waterman
& Richard Moore E. G. Justice.

An appraisment bill and sale bill of the estate of Coville May was returned; & orders to be Recd.

Settlements of the estate of Joseph Peff, deceased & Coville May deceased, were returned, examined by the court & orders to be Recd.

Settlement of the accounts of Amos Sheff as Guardian of said Peff was returned, examined & orders to be Recd.

Between

am. 45
50.

Joseph Peff Peff
and

E. G. Justice.

Carroll Wright & Defendants

This cause came on again to be heard on the 24th day of November 1836; on the the papers formerly read in this cause, and the report of the commissioners Thomas Harrison and Martin Crown, made in obedience to a decree rendered in this cause on the 17th day of February 1836. being returned into court, and there being no exceptions thereto, the court doth approve and confirm, said report, in consideration whereof the court doth adjudge order and decree, that unless the Defendant Carroll Wright and Nancy his wife, or some one of them, pay to the Peff the sum of \$132 with interest thereon from the 18th of April 1805. the amount due the Plaintiff as ascertained by the decree rendered in this cause on the 17th day of February 1836. on or before the 1st day

of February Next, that the sum of the said defendants named in the bill and other proceeding in this cause be subject to sale for the purpose of raising said sum of money together with the costs of this suit, and it is further adjudged, ordered and decreed, that in case the said Deft. Wright and wife, shall make default and not pay said sum of money as aforesaid, on or before the said 1st day of February Next, that the sheriff of Rockingham shall proceed to make sale of said lands ^{belonging to} of said Defendants, or so much thereof as shall be necessary, to discharge the said sum of money due to the Deft. and the costs aforesaid, after having first advertised the time and place of sale, for at least four weeks in the Rockingham Register, a Newspaper, published in Harrisburg, and also at the Court house of Rockingham County, on some one Court day, at some public place in the neighborhood; and it is further ordered, and decreed, that the said Sheriff, execute a Deed to the purchaser, conveying the title of the said Wright & wife, with special Warranty, and that he report his proceeding to the Court in order to affirm a decree; and it is further adjudged, ordered and decreed that the effect of this decree be suspended until the Deft. or some one for him shall file with the clerk of this Court, a bond with good security in a sum double the value of the said lands of the said Deft. Wright & wife, conditional for *

* performing the future Order and decrees of this Court made in this cause -

Sprengle & Parley, plea waived and I accept Compromise for \$24.15^{cts} the one half of the Debt in the declaration mentioned, with interest from the 25. September 1834 all paid & Costs -

Wright and Deft. Jury sworn to try the issue to wit Feilding, Ragon, Samuel Shacklet, Robert Rice, Oliver Hartung, George S. Logan, James Taylor, William Wright, Feilding McGuire, John Stratesman, William Payson, Samuel Starbarger, Henry Landon, who having heard the evidence & argument of Counsel, retired from the bar to consider of their Verdict, and after some time returned into Court and declared that they could not agree whereupon by Consent S. Shacklet one of the Jurors was withdrawn and the rest of the Jurors gave rendering their Verdict discharged the cause is continued until the next term

Allen & Sells P. on the Motion of the Defendant by his Counsel & by Consent the Judgment remains in this cause on yesterday is set aside, and the cause is continued.

Prerub

Richard P. Fletcher Esq.

Interimaries in Detroit. The Deft for further plea in this behalf
 pleaded 3 special pleas, by replication to 1st & 2nd of said pleas & pleas
 and special replies to the third plea & plea. Jury sworn to try
 the plea to wit Henry Roach, John Kieffer, Joseph Kieffer, John
 Schild, Daniel Ragen, John Sarney, John Selo, John Rantow
 John Seta, John Whethead, Geo. Sanford & George M. Sanford
 and having heard the views and argument of Counsel. Retire
 from the bar to consider of their Verdict. and after some
 time returned into court and declared that they could
 not agree on their Verdict. whereupon by consent. the
 jury was discharged, and the cause continued until
 the next court.

And that the court be adjourned until to ~~begin~~
~~Monday~~ the 7th Monday in December next.

R. P. Fletcher

Virginia to wit;

At about held for the County of Rockingham on the third Monday being the 19th day of ~~December~~ ^{December} 1826.

Present
Richard P. Fletcher, Jacob Rush, Augustus Waterman
P. Isaac Thomas E. G. Jones

A list of Deeds and other writings admitted to Record in the Clerk's office of the County Court of Rockingham from the 1st to the 30th day of November 1826. both days included, was returned into Court by the Clerk thereof, and being examined by the Court, is ordered to be entered in the Minutes, and ordered lest be posted up at the door of the Court house of said County, and is as follows, to wit,

- not found Advers for Laws. Status. Wilkern P. to Samuel Gibbons P.
- " Advers for Laws. A. Waterman to John T. Gordon
- " Advers for Laws. John T. Gordon to Hazel Soflans.
- " Advers for Laws. George Hyger P. to Joseph Miller
- found Advers for Laws. Jacob Myant to Eugene Irvine P.
- found Advers for Laws. Eugene Irvine P. to Jacob Myant
- not found Advers for Laws. Isaac Moyers to Thompson Bull
- " Advers for Laws. Robert Grattan to Edward Stevens
- " Advers for Laws. James Rankin to Joseph Stufferman, his
- " Advers for P. Property Joseph Trout to J. Kinney in trust for W. Kinney P.
- not found Advers for Laws. Isaac Wright P. to James Clarke
- " Advers for Laws. Thomas Meadors to Geo. Courso.
- " Advers for Laws. Geo. Courso to James Meadors
- " Advers for Laws. same... to Joseph Michael
- " Advers for Laws. same... to Sarah Jane Meady
- Advers for P. Property. J. Roscoe to Geo. Clarke in trust for Solomon Hunter
- not found Advers for Laws. P. M. D. Devos to A. C. Bryan in trust for Lot Devos
- " Advers for Laws. John Faddy to Adam Stevens
- " Advers for Laws. J. Vanpel to D. Steeds in trust for Lot Levenson.
- found Advers of Release. D. H. Gansbitt to John T. Gordon.

- found ADus of Release Jacob Miller to John Maggart
 found ADus for said Joseph Sauron to Thomas Lowry.
 not found ADus for said John Maggart to Charles Gary
 not found ADus for said Benjamin Powell to James Rogers.
 found ADus for said John Maggart to J. Miller trust for M. Melle
 not found ADus for said D. Starke to A. Moffitt in trust for Philip Cook
 " " ADus of attorney (to Conny land) John Mayler P to Adam Staynes.
 found ADus for said Adam Staynes for himself P to Peter Staynes.
 found ADus for said C. M. Bright to Daniel Frost
 not found ADus for said Martin Burckholder to Madira Deard
 " " ADus for said A. P. Stuffer to A. J. Stuffer
 " " ADus for said same P to Ferrall P. Anthony.

On the Motion of Rev. Joshua Jennings, who this day
 presents Credentials of his Ordination, and also of his being
 in regular communication with the Baptist Church, took the
 Oath of allegiance to the Commonwealth, and with
 Richard Wingfield M. L. L. to. L. L. his security, entered into bond
 in the penalty of \$1500 conditions as the Law directs, whereupon
 a Testimonial is granted him in due form—

Sarah Jane Ragen orphan of John Ragen and came into
 Court over 14 years of age and was chosen of Benjamin
 Wampet as her Guardian, who entered into bond in the sum
 in the penalty of \$100 as the Law directs.

On the Motion of Mr. Michael D. Hoffman, who entered
 into bond with security in the penalty of \$1000 and
 made oath Christ as the Law directs, a certificate is
 granted him for obtaining letters of administration in the
 estate of John D. Moyers deceased in due form, and
 it is ordered that John Peery, Daniel Bourneau, Joseph
 Burckholder and William Hester or any 2 of them being
 first sworn do appraise the estate of the said Moyers
 and make report to the Court.

Settlement of the estate accounts of Peter Crosby
deceased, was returned & examined by the Court & ordered to
be Recorded

On the Motion of George Soar, who entered into bond
with security in the penalty of \$2000. and made oath
thrusts as the Law directs, a certificate is granted him
for Obtaining Letters of administration on the estate of
John Bull deceased in due form, and it is ordered
that Daniel Oliver Henry Earhart, Isaac May,
& Amos Mirenda, or any 2 of them being first
sworn do appraise the estate of the said John Bull
and make report thereof to the Court

Order of emancipation from Daniel Smith to his
Negro Man Philip, was presented in Court &
acknowledged by said Smith & ordered to be Recorded

Settlements of the estate accounts of, Peter Nicholas
Garthman, Maryah Perley, Agnes Starbuck
Barbara Ann Gowd, Joseph Argubright, Jacob Haynes
& John Millhark, were severally returned into Court,
examined & ordered to be Recorded

Richard P. Fletcher, Commissioner of this County, with
his security came into Court, and acknowledged his bond
as such as the Law directs, whereupon it is ordered to
be Recorded

On the Motion of Joseph Leavenworth to admin of the
estate of Henry Mace decd, it is ordered that Richard
P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine & settle
the estate accounts of the said Henry Mace
and make report thereof to the Court

Sale bills of the estate of John Sheets deceased, were
returned & examined & ordered to be Recorded

Registers of Sarnold, & Philips free Negroes taken by the clerk were returned into court, and being compared, with the said Negroes and found duly made, copies thereof are ordered to be furnished them as the law directs.

It was also that the account of the poor boy Ruben Ferril, a poor boy (who was formerly bound to be bound to James Marrow) to James Taylor to learn the trade of a house Carpenter as the law directs, who is to have the same freedom as the said Marrow was to have given; and the said Marrow is hereby released.

A writing purporting to be the last will and Testament of John Rice deceased, was presented in court, and was proved by the Oaths of Mathew Pripps and Edmund Pripps two witnesses thereto to be Records, and as the Mother of Ptolemy Brightwell one of the executors named in the said will, who entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$4000 and made oath thereto as the law directs, a certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate in due form, and it is ordered that Jacob Hooper, Martin Speck, Mathew Pripps & William C. Smith, or any 3 of them being first sworn do appraise the estate of the said John Rice and make report to the Court.

An appraisment held of the estate of John Sheets and was returned into court, and was ~~so~~ found to be Records to be Recorded.

Mary Dew & John Dew Orphan of Luke Dew dec. over 14 years of age came into court and made choice of Peggy Dew as their Guardian, and it is ordered that the said Peggy Dew be appointed Guardian for said Luke Dew, Edwin Dew & Hugh Dew also children of said Luke Dew dec. under 14 years of age, she having entered into bond with security in the penalty of \$1500 as the law directs.

Wife & Turner upon an attachment.

- On the Constable having returned on the attached returns on an Exec. Pro. and the said Defendant was solemnly called and not appearing, Judgment is awarded the Plaintiff for Statute dollars 95 cents, with the interest on \$7.45 cents part thereof from 9. day of October 1836. till paid, and Costs subject to a credit of \$6.66 cents paid 15 Decr. 1836 - and it is ordered that the Sheriff make sale of the said attached property according to Law, and pay the amount of the Judgment to the Plaintiff and that he have receipt therefor.

Harrison Pro. & Carrod Pro. on application for a grand discharge by means of the Plaintiff.

Carrod & Harrison Pro. on a writ of Habeas Corpus - Remanded by means of Judgment rendered for the Plaintiff.

- On the Motion of John Earnshaw, executor of Mary Ann Boon it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine the estate and settle the estate accounts of said Boon and make report to the Court.

On the Motion of George Nicholas executor of Jacob Nicholas it is ordered that Joseph Maury be appointed a commissioner to examine the estate and settle the estate accounts of said Nicholas and make report to the Court.

On the Motion of John Penn & Jacob Penn executor of N. Penn and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine the estate and settle the estate accounts of said Voluntary Penn and make report to the Court.

On the Motion of Jacob Claypole surviving executor of Michael Baker and it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appointed a commissioner to examine

state and settle the estate accounts of said Michael Baker and make report to the Court

of Elysa Ann Lewis
C *of Thomas of* *William Lewis* and, over 14 years of age came into Court and made choice of James M. Stout as ~~their~~ ^{the} Guardian, and it is ordered that the said, James M. Stout be appointed Guardian for Caroline Matilda, James Marrow, Albert Morgan, & William M. Lewis, Children of the said William Lewis and under 14 years of age, whereupon the said James M. Stout with security entered into bond in the penalty of \$3000 as the Law directs.

Danis Wenton procured in Court a commission as Sheriff of this County for the ensuing year, and thereupon with security entered into 3 several bonds as the Law directs, which bonds being approved by the Court they were acknowledged by the parties thereto and ordered to be Recorded.

Annas Moor Wife - Amoson Moffett & Co. Chancery

of Amoson
C This cause came on to be finally heard this 19th day of ~~November~~ ^{February} 1836 on the bill, the Joint & Several answers of George Moffett, Isaac Moffett, Henry Moffett, Samuel Moffett, ~~Amoson~~ ^{Amoson} Samuel Newman & the several answers of Amoson Moffett, & by consent of parties, and the argument of Counsel being heard, the Court doth adjudge, order and decree that the power of Samuel Moffett & Samuel Newman ~~was~~ Trustees, for the said Elyzabeth Moor under the Will of her father be superseded and annulled, & doth appoint in lieu of said Samuel Moffett and Samuel Newman her Brother Isaac Moffett, who is hereby authorized to act as Trustee under the said will as fully & in all respects as the said Samuel Moffett & Samuel Newman were by the said Will was authorized, to do, - and the Court doth further adjudge, order and decree, that the said George Moffett Amoson Moffett, Isaac Moffett, and Henry Moffett do pay in equal proportions, to the said Isaac Moffett Trustee as aforesaid, the following sum of Money.

to wit, \$50 with the interest thereon from the 31. July 1829.
 the sum of \$50 with interest from the 31. of July 1830
 the like sum with interest from 31. of July 1831.
 the like sum of with interest from the 31. July 1832
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1833.
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1834.
 the like sum of with interest from the 31. July 1835
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1836.
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1837.
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1838
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1839.
 the like sum with interest from the 31. July 1840.
 of \$26. with interest from the 31. of July 1841. but the
 costs of prosecuting this suit are to be paid out of the
 first named payment of \$50.

An appraisment bill & Sale bill of the estate of
 John Pennabaker deced. were returned and examined &
 ordered to be Read

On the Motion of John Christman admr of John
 Pennabaker deced. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher
 be appointed a commissioner to examine state and settle
 the estate accounts of said Pennabaker and make
 report to the court

On the Motion of Stephen Starbarger admr of William
 Lewis deced. it is ordered that Richard P. Fletcher be appoin-
 ted a commissioner to examine state and settle the estate
 accounts of the said Mr. Lewis deced and make report
 thereof to the court

Gorham v. Chapman & Co. on a notice as a B. day was notice
 to show & defend call. Defendant not appearing. Judgment & execution
 awarded.

P. Effinger v. Mr. W. Mahan on appeal docket & continue

Court is *Stoges* on at *ecog*.

The Defendant appears in court in dis charge of his duty.
and being heard, this proceeding is ordered to be dismissed.

Court is *Beard* said.

Print *Pecky Harrison*

It is ordered that the court be adjourned until the 2nd
Monday in *January* next.

Pecky Harrison